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  1          A    Let me rephrase that.  It was -- it

  2   was -- it wasn't sexual, no.  It wasn't sexual.  It

  3   was -- no.

  4          Q    How would you describe it?  Can you

  5   describe it a little better for us?

  6          A    A wanting to be with them, a wanting to

  7   be like them.  I'd say it came from a low self

  8   esteem at the time.  It was when I was feeling not

  9   so good about myself.

 10          Q    So you said that those feelings were

 11   inconsistent between ages five and six and when you

 12   attended your first JIM weekend.  Explain to me how

 13   they waxed and waned over the years.

 14          A    They manifest when stress was high in my

 15   life due to big changes in my life.  Yeah.

 16          Q    Okay.  And was there anything in

 17   particular that triggered your going to a JIM

 18   weekend?

 19          A    Well, I had just gotten divorced and,

 20   yeah, there was a man in the Mankind Project that I

 21   knew and hung out with that was gay, lived the

 22   lifestyle, and what was your question again?

 23          Q    Well, what were the triggers that --

 24   that made you want to go to the JIM weekend?

 25          A    That man kept trying to encourage me or
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  1   going to work.  You know, the magic's there, it's

  2   going to work.

  3          Q    Did he charge you for any of the work

  4   you did with him outside of JIM?

  5          A    No, he did not.  And when I staffed --

  6   no, I mean, they fed us and everything.  And going

  7   back to my wife, though, I mean, I have a

  8   tremendously great relationship with my wife and I

  9   mean sexually, emotionally, it's everything I

 10   dreamed of.

 11          Q    Does she know about your issues with

 12   your sexuality?

 13          A    She does, yeah.  She understands that

 14   it's not -- you know, when she first met me, I told

 15   her about it and it scared her.  And since then I've

 16   been more and more concrete about that it's just

 17   something that I desired in other men.  It's not

 18   anything that's threatening to our marriage in any

 19   sexual way or anything like that.  She had a hard

 20   time understanding it at first.

 21          Q    Why do you think you have -- had this

 22   confusion?

 23          A    I was physically abused by both my

 24   parents, emotionally abused, and then at school, in

 25   grade school, didn't feel liked, was ousted, was the
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  1   loner, was the one that everybody fought with

  2   physically and felt like I was on the outside

  3   looking in all the time, so --

  4          Q    When you say you were physically abused

  5   by your parents, was this -- did that involve any

  6   sexual abuse?

  7          A    No.

  8            MR. LAFFEY:  I think I'm just about done.

  9    Give me a minute to -- why don't we take a short

 10    break.  Can we do that?

 11            MR. McCOY:  Sure.

 12            VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 10:37.  We are

 13    off the record.

 14             (Break taken.)

 15            VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 10:48.  We're

 16    back on the record.

 17        Q    (By Mr. Laffey) Just a few more questions

 18   from me.  You mentioned that you have -- have OCD?

 19          A    Yes.

 20          Q    Was that diagnosed by a doctor?

 21          A    Yes, uh-huh.

 22          Q    Psychiatrist?

 23          A    Psychiatrist.

 24          Q    Did you see a psychiatrist about that?

 25          A    Yes.
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  1          Q    You wanted to be as popular as they

  2   were?

  3          A    Yeah.  Um-hmm.  I wanted to be liked.  I

  4   wanted to be popular.  I wanted to be in their

  5   clique.

  6          Q    Were you in any clique?

  7          A    No.

  8          Q    Were you in any activities or clubs or

  9   sports?

 10          A    I played soccer when I was -- but that

 11   was way back when.  And I quit.  Didn't even follow

 12   through.  No, we were not in any -- I was not in any

 13   club sports, anything like that.

 14          Q    You've indicated that there have been

 15   times when you've had low self esteem.

 16          A    Um-hmm.

 17          Q    Did you ever experience that in high

 18   school at times?

 19          A    Yes.

 20          Q    What were the circumstances in which

 21   you'd feel low self esteem?

 22          A    Well, like I said, I guess -- I think it

 23   was not -- you know, I wasn't -- I was a C student.

 24   You know, I'd try as much as I could to get better

 25   grades and I couldn't get better grades.  I was
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  1   better with my hands than I was in my head because I

  2   took shop courses, but just didn't feel like -- just

  3   didn't feel like I could connect to other people in

  4   class, you know, I just -- just didn't have whatever

  5   they had is what I told myself at the time.

  6          Q    Did you go to prom?

  7          A    No.

  8          Q    At your high school, were there any kids

  9   that you knew to be gay?

 10          A    I knew of some guys that I suspected

 11   were gay.

 12          Q    But they weren't open about it?

 13          A    No.

 14          Q    Were they treated any differently than

 15   other kids?

 16          A    I was not that close to them to even

 17   know.  I seen them, you know, it was a pretty big

 18   school.  I seen them walking here and there.  They

 19   seemed pretty popular.

 20          Q    Did you have any reaction to your own

 21   suspicion that these other kids might be gay?

 22          A    I think -- I'd say I was a little

 23   homophobic.

 24          Q    What do you mean by that?

 25          A    I think I was afraid.  I mean, just -- I
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  1          A    You know, I sought -- you know, I had

  2   friends with the New Warriors, like I said, and I

  3   also had this other friend at the time that lived

  4   the lifestyle, like I said, and I tried to get

  5   counsel through him, but I didn't feel like it was

  6   unbiased.

  7          Q    Okay.  I'm trying to figure out when you

  8   went to New Warriors.  Was that before or after your

  9   first marriage ended?

 10          A    It was before.

 11          Q    And remind me why it is that you went to

 12   New Warriors.

 13          A    Because I wanted a connection with other

 14   men.

 15          Q    I'm sorry, go ahead.

 16          A    In a way that -- in a way that was

 17   talking about something other than sports or

 18   drinking.

 19          Q    And how did you learn about New

 20   Warriors?

 21          A    From a chiropractor that I was going to.

 22   He had fliers there.

 23          Q    How many times did you go to New

 24   Warriors?

 25          A    How many times did I go to it?  Well,
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anxiety   (5)
anybody   (1)
anything's   (1)
apart   (1)
apologize   (1)
appear   (1)
appeared   (1)
appears   (1)
application   (1)
applied   (1)
appreciate   (1)
apprehensive   (1)
approximately   (2)
April   (1)
aroused   (2)
arrival   (1)
arrive   (1)
arrived   (1)
art   (1)
Arthur   (13)
asked   (5)
asking   (4)
Association   (2)
assume   (2)
astounding   (1)
ate   (2)
athletes   (1)
attend   (3)
attended   (14)
attending   (4)
attention   (2)


Attentive   (1)
attorney   (2)
attorneys   (1)
attracted   (2)
attraction   (7)
attractions   (1)
attractive   (1)
authentic   (1)
available   (3)
Avenue   (1)
avoid   (1)
aware   (1)


< B >
back   (23)
bad   (3)
balls   (2)
Beanstalk   (2)
beatings   (1)
begins   (3)
BEHALF   (2)
believe   (3)
BELLA   (2)
BENJAMIN   (3)
Berke   (1)
Best   (9)
better   (5)
Beyond   (5)
bicycling   (2)
big   (3)
bisexual   (3)
bit   (8)
blanked   (1)
blanking   (1)
blue   (3)
Bobby   (1)
book   (7)
born   (2)
Botanical   (1)
bottled   (1)
boy   (1)
break   (17)
breaks   (1)
Brewer   (4)
brief   (1)
briefly   (1)
broken   (1)
brothers   (3)
brought   (2)
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BRUCK   (6)
bullied   (1)
bunch   (1)
business   (1)
busy   (1)


< C >
cabin   (1)
California   (2)
call   (12)
called   (18)
calling   (2)
care   (1)
Case   (4)
casual   (1)
catch   (1)
Catholic   (5)
cause   (1)
caused   (2)
causes   (1)
celebrity   (1)
Center   (2)
certain   (7)
certification   (2)
Certified   (4)
certify   (1)
CHAIM   (3)
change   (3)
changes   (1)
characteristics   (1)
charge   (4)
charges   (1)
chat   (2)
chest   (5)
Chicago   (1)
child   (1)
childhood   (4)
children   (1)
chiropractor   (1)
choice   (1)
choose   (3)
chooses   (2)
choosing   (1)
chose   (2)
Chris   (3)
church   (3)
circumstance   (1)
circumstances   (4)
City   (4)


clarify   (1)
class   (2)
classes   (1)
clear   (5)
clearing   (8)
clearings   (1)
Cleary   (2)
client   (2)
clients   (1)
clique   (2)
cliques   (3)
close   (6)
clothed   (1)
club   (1)
clubs   (1)
coach   (1)
Coaching   (2)
Coffee's   (1)
Cohen   (2)
Cohen's   (1)
collar   (3)
colleague   (1)
college   (2)
Colorado   (2)
come   (2)
comes   (1)
comforted   (1)
comforting   (1)
Coming   (6)
comment   (3)
commercial   (1)
Commission   (1)
communicating   (1)
community   (3)
company   (3)
complete   (1)
concerned   (1)
conclude   (1)
concludes   (2)
concrete   (1)
confidence   (1)
confident   (3)
confidential   (1)
confirm   (1)
confused   (2)
Confusing   (1)
confusion   (15)
connect   (2)
connected   (3)


connection   (9)
connections   (1)
consciousness   (1)
consider   (1)
considered   (1)
consistently   (3)
construction   (1)
contact   (10)
contacted   (1)
context   (3)
continuing   (1)
contribute   (3)
control   (1)
conversation   (9)
conversations   (1)
conviction   (2)
correct   (45)
correction   (1)
counsel   (6)
counselor   (1)
COUNTY   (7)
couple   (9)
couples   (1)
Courage   (2)
course   (1)
courses   (1)
COURT   (9)
cousin   (1)
cracked   (1)
crazy   (1)
credentials   (2)
crews   (1)
cross   (1)
CRR   (2)
crushes   (1)
CSR   (2)
culture   (1)
custody   (2)
cut   (5)
cutter   (1)


< D >
dad   (8)
dads   (1)
data   (1)
date   (4)
Dated   (1)
dating   (2)
daughter   (9)


daughter's   (1)
Dave   (2)
David   (4)
David.dinielli@splce
nter.org   (1)
Day   (3)
days   (3)
decided   (1)
decision   (1)
deeply   (2)
DEFENDANT   (4)
Defendants   (4)
deposed   (1)
deposes   (1)
DEPOSITION   (15)
depressed   (2)
depression   (1)
describe   (23)
described   (3)
describing   (4)
description   (1)
designed   (1)
desire   (2)
desired   (1)
desires   (1)
detail   (1)
details   (1)
diagnosed   (3)
diagnosing   (1)
different   (4)
differently   (1)
difficult   (6)
difficulties   (1)
diligently   (1)
Dinielli   (21)
dinner   (1)
direction   (1)
disability   (2)
discharge   (1)
discovered   (1)
discussed   (1)
discussing   (2)
dishonor   (1)
displayed   (1)
dissimilar   (1)
distance   (1)
distrust   (1)
DIVISION   (3)
divorced   (3)







Tony Palmisano 3


Freedom Court Reporting, Inc 877-373-3660


doctor   (1)
Doell   (2)
doing   (12)
doubts   (1)
Downing   (23)
Downing's   (3)
Dr   (2)
dreamed   (1)
dressed   (1)
drinking   (2)
drive   (1)
driven   (1)
dropped   (1)
drove   (1)
due   (2)
duly   (1)


< E >
earlier   (12)
early   (2)
ease   (1)
easier   (2)
easily   (1)
east   (1)
eat   (1)
effect   (3)
efforts   (1)
either   (5)
Elaine   (1)
elder   (3)
Elders   (2)
else's   (1)
emergency   (1)
emotionally   (2)
employed   (4)
employee   (1)
encourage   (2)
encouragement   (1)
encouraging   (1)
ended   (4)
energy   (2)
engage   (5)
engaged   (3)
engages   (1)
engaging   (1)
English   (1)
envious   (2)
envy   (4)
equally   (1)


establish   (1)
esteem   (4)
estimate   (3)
et   (1)
everybody   (3)
EXAMINATION 
 (2)
examined   (2)
example   (2)
exclusively   (1)
excuse   (1)
exercise   (16)
exercises   (18)
EXHIBIT   (1)
Exhibits   (1)
Exodus   (15)
experience   (5)
experiences   (2)
experiment   (1)
expires   (1)
Explain   (4)
explore   (2)


< F >
face   (1)
Facebook   (1)
faces   (1)
facility   (1)
facing   (1)
fact   (2)
Fairly   (3)
familiar   (4)
family   (5)
far   (2)
father   (2)
fatherly   (1)
fear   (1)
fed   (1)
federal   (1)
feel   (24)
feeling   (7)
feelings   (6)
feels   (1)
felt   (29)
FERGUSON   (4)
figure   (3)
figured   (1)
Fill   (1)
finally   (1)


financially   (1)
find   (2)
fine   (3)
fingertips   (1)
finish   (1)
finished   (2)
Firm   (2)
first   (40)
fitter   (1)
five   (6)
flew   (2)
flier   (1)
fliers   (1)
flipped   (1)
focus   (1)
follow   (3)
followed   (1)
following   (1)
football   (1)
force   (1)
foregoing   (1)
form   (1)
formulating   (1)
forward   (3)
fought   (1)
found   (4)
four   (2)
fraud   (1)
free   (1)
Freedom   (1)
friend   (15)
friendly   (1)
friends   (11)
front   (1)
full-time   (1)
fully   (3)
functions   (1)
further   (3)


< G >
Gaertner   (2)
Garden   (1)
gas   (3)
gather   (2)
gauntlet   (1)
gay   (9)
gentleman   (1)
genuineness   (1)
gesture   (1)


getting   (6)
girl   (1)
girlfriend   (1)
girls   (4)
give   (7)
given   (1)
giving   (1)
glad   (2)
go   (28)
goal   (1)
goals   (4)
God   (5)
God's   (1)
going   (33)
Goldberg   (12)
Goldberg's   (1)
golden   (1)
good   (5)
good-bye   (1)
gotten   (4)
Gottlieb   (2)
grade   (4)
grades   (2)
graduated   (1)
graduating   (1)
great   (1)
greeted   (1)
greeting   (1)
grew   (3)
group   (7)
groups   (9)
grow   (1)
growing   (1)
growth   (1)
grunt   (1)
guess   (7)
guidance   (1)
gut   (3)
guts   (8)
guy   (10)
guys   (10)


< H >
hair   (2)
half   (1)
Hamilton   (1)
handle   (2)
hands   (3)
hang   (4)
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happen   (1)
happened   (3)
happens   (1)
happy   (1)
hard   (4)
hazy   (1)
head   (5)
heal   (1)
Healing   (2)
healthy   (14)
hear   (5)
heard   (6)
heart   (1)
he'd   (2)
held   (4)
hello   (2)
help   (7)
helped   (5)
helpful   (1)
helping   (1)
heros   (1)
heterosexual   (2)
Hey   (1)
high   (20)
hips   (1)
hit   (1)
hitting   (3)
hockey   (1)
Hoffmann   (1)
hold   (3)
holding   (5)
Holloran   (2)
Holmdel   (2)
home   (2)
homophobic   (1)
homosexual   (1)
Homosexuality   (3)
hope   (2)
hopeful   (1)
hopes   (3)
hours   (1)
house   (5)
HUDSON   (3)
hug   (6)
hugged   (2)
hugging   (3)
hugs   (1)
humans   (1)
hung   (1)


hurt   (3)
HVAC   (1)
hyperactive   (1)


< I >
identify   (1)
identity   (2)
illness   (1)
impatient   (1)
important   (2)
impressed   (1)
incidents   (1)
including   (3)
inconsistent   (1)
indicated   (7)
individual   (1)
information   (1)
initiation   (1)
inkling   (1)
inside   (1)
inspections   (1)
instance   (1)
instances   (1)
instructions   (1)
integrity   (2)
intensity   (1)
intentions   (1)
interest   (1)
interested   (4)
interests   (1)
interposed   (1)
intimate   (1)
introduced   (1)
intrude   (1)
involve   (3)
involved   (2)
involving   (2)
issues   (8)


< J >
Jack   (2)
jail   (1)
jealous   (2)
jealousy   (3)
JERSEY   (5)
Jews   (4)
JIM   (56)
JO   (2)
job   (2)


jobs   (1)
JONAH   (7)
JONAH's   (1)
Jonathan   (1)
Journey   (11)
journeyer   (5)
journeyers   (2)
judgment   (1)
jump   (3)
junior   (1)


< K >
kept   (1)
kid   (3)
kids   (6)
kind   (12)
kiss   (3)
knew   (7)
know   (120)
knowing   (1)
knows   (1)


< L >
L-5473-12   (3)
lacking   (1)
Lafayette   (1)
Laffey   (19)
lasted   (1)
late   (1)
laugh   (1)
LAW   (7)
lawful   (1)
lawsuit   (2)
lead   (1)
leaders   (1)
Leading   (2)
leaks   (2)
learn   (1)
learned   (1)
learning   (3)
led   (2)
legit   (1)
lessened   (1)
letting   (1)
level   (1)
levels   (2)
LEVIN   (5)
Liberty   (1)
Life   (18)


lifestyle   (5)
likable   (1)
liked   (4)
Likings   (1)
listened   (1)
litigation   (2)
little   (11)
live   (1)
lived   (2)
lives   (2)
living   (1)
LLC   (2)
local   (1)
locally   (1)
Loneliness   (1)
lonely   (3)
loner   (3)
long   (9)
look   (1)
looked   (1)
looking   (3)
lot   (16)
Louis   (12)
loved   (4)
loving   (1)
low   (3)
Lutheran   (13)


< M >
magic's   (1)
mail-in   (1)
man   (26)
mandatory   (1)
Manhood   (5)
Manhood's   (1)
manifest   (1)
Mankind   (4)
manner   (3)
MARCH   (3)
Marked   (1)
market   (1)
marriage   (16)
marriages   (3)
married   (6)
masculinity   (1)
matched   (3)
Math   (2)
matter   (2)
McCoy   (4)
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meal   (1)
mean   (15)
meaning   (1)
means   (1)
meat   (1)
medication   (2)
meet   (2)
meeting   (4)
meetings   (5)
mellow   (1)
Melvin   (1)
member   (2)
members   (6)
memory   (1)
men   (31)
men's   (1)
mental   (1)
mentality   (1)
mentioned   (2)
Messina   (1)
met   (14)
MICHAEL   (4)
mid   (1)
Mike   (1)
mind   (2)
mingle   (1)
minimal   (2)
minister   (14)
minivan   (1)
minute   (6)
minutes   (2)
Mischaracterizes 
 (1)
missed   (1)
Missouri   (6)
mlaffey@messinala
wfirm.com   (1)
mob   (1)
MO-CCR   (1)
mom   (8)
Monday   (1)
money   (2)
Montgomery   (1)
months   (9)
moved   (2)
movie   (1)
moving   (1)
museum   (1)


< N >
naked   (6)
name   (9)
names   (3)
name's   (1)
natural   (2)
nature   (2)
nearly   (1)
need   (8)
needed   (2)
needing   (1)
needs   (2)
neighborhood   (2)
neither   (1)
nephew   (2)
nervous   (3)
never   (10)
NEW   (36)
nice   (1)
night   (1)
nine   (1)
nod   (1)
normal   (1)
Notary   (4)
nowadays   (1)
nudity   (2)
number   (1)
nurturing   (1)


< O >
oath   (3)
object   (1)
Objection   (3)
objections   (1)
objections's   (1)
Obviously   (1)
occasional   (1)
occur   (1)
occurred   (1)
OCD   (6)
Offering   (4)
offices   (3)
Oh   (14)
Okay   (31)
old   (5)
Older   (3)
Once   (6)
one-on-one   (1)
ones   (3)


open   (1)
opportune   (1)
opposed   (1)
oranges   (1)
order   (1)
organization   (1)
organized   (2)
organizing   (1)
orientation   (4)
original   (1)
Orr   (1)
ousted   (1)
outcome   (1)
outside   (6)
overtime   (1)


< P >
p.m   (2)
pads   (1)
PAGE   (2)
paid   (7)
PALMISANO   (12)


P-A-L-M-I-S-A-N-O 
 (1)
panic   (1)
parents   (6)
park   (3)
parochial   (1)
partially   (3)
participant   (3)
participants   (1)
participate   (6)
participated   (1)
participating   (1)
particular   (7)
particularly   (1)
parties   (2)
partner   (1)
passionate   (5)
path   (1)
patience   (1)
patient   (3)
people   (18)
people's   (2)
perfect   (2)
permitted   (1)
person   (10)
personal   (2)


Philadelphia   (4)
phone   (1)
physical   (2)
physically   (4)
picked   (1)
picture   (1)
pillow   (4)
pillows   (1)
pin   (1)
place   (4)
Plaintiff   (2)
Plaintiffs   (5)
play   (1)
played   (2)
playing   (1)
Plaza   (1)
please   (8)
pleasing   (1)
point   (8)
polished   (1)
popular   (3)
posed   (1)
position   (1)
Poverty   (2)
praise   (1)
present   (2)
pressure   (1)
pretty   (13)
prime   (1)
prior   (2)
privacy   (1)
Probably   (13)
problems   (1)
procedure   (1)
procedures   (1)
proceed   (1)
process   (5)
processes   (4)
produced   (2)
Professional   (2)
professionally   (1)
Project   (4)
projections   (1)
prom   (1)
protocol   (2)
protocols   (1)
provided   (1)
Psychiatrist   (3)
psychodynamic   (1)







Tony Palmisano 6


Freedom Court Reporting, Inc 877-373-3660


Psychotherapy   (2)
Public   (5)
purpose   (2)
purposes   (2)
push   (4)
pushing   (1)
Put   (2)
putting   (1)


< Q >
question   (19)
questioned   (1)
questioning   (1)
QUESTIONS   (11)
quick   (1)
quiet   (1)
quit   (1)
quite   (1)


< R >
rackets   (1)
raise   (2)
Raised   (1)
reach   (3)
reached   (2)
reaction   (1)
real   (2)
realistic   (1)
really   (21)
Realtime   (1)
Real-time   (1)
reason   (2)
Rebecca   (4)
rebel   (2)
recall   (26)
recalling   (1)
receive   (2)
recognizing   (1)
recollection   (1)
record   (19)
reduced   (1)
refer   (3)
regard   (1)
Registered   (2)
regular   (1)
related   (1)
relating   (1)
relationship   (8)
relationships   (3)


relative   (1)
remain   (2)
remember   (24)
remind   (3)
reminded   (1)
rented   (1)
repair   (1)
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           1             IT IS HEREBY STIPULATED AND AGREED by and



           2             between counsel for Plaintiff and counsel



           3             for the Defendant that this deposition may



           4             be taken in shorthand by Rebecca Brewer,



           5             RPR, CRR, CSR, Certified Court Reporter,



           6             and Notary Public, and afterwards



           7             transcribed into typewriting;



           8                    *   *   *   *   *



           9            VIDEOGRAPHER:  This begins Videotape No. 1



          10    in the deposition of Tony Palmisano in the matter



          11    of Ferguson, et al. versus JONAH -- JONAH, Case



          12    No. L-5473-12, before the Superior Court of Hudson



          13    County, Law Division.  We are now on the record at



          14    approximately 10:02 a.m. on Monday, March the



          15    10th, 2014.  This deposition is taking place at



          16    the Law Offices of Holloran, White, Schwartz, and



          17    Gaertner.  My name is David Doell representing



          18    Freedom Court Reporting.  Would counsel please



          19    identify yourselves and state whom you represent?



          20            MR. LAFFEY:  Mike Laffey.  I represent the



          21    defendants in this action.



          22            MR. DINIELLI:  David Dinielli of the



          23    Southern Poverty Law Center with my colleague,



          24    Scott McCoy of the Cleary Gottlieb firm for the



          25    plaintiff.
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           1            VIDEOGRAPHER:  If the court reporter would



           2    please swear in the witness and we may proceed.



           3                     TONY PALMISANO,



           4             Of lawful age, produced, sworn and



           5        examined on behalf of the Defendant, deposes



           6        and says:



           7                       EXAMINATION



           8   QUESTIONS BY MR. LAFFEY:



           9          Q    Mr. Palmisano, will you state your name



          10   and spell your last name for the record?



          11          A    Tony Palmisano.  Last name is spelled



          12   P-A-L-M-I-S-A-N-O.



          13          Q    Have you ever been deposed before?



          14          A    No.



          15          Q    Let me give you some brief instructions



          16   then.  Your testimony's sworn, so it's the same as



          17   if you were giving it in court.  Because it's being



          18   taken down by the court reporter, you have to



          19   verbalize your answers.  Yes/no, a statement.  You



          20   cannot nod, gesture with your hands, or give a



          21   grunt.  I'd ask that you please wait until the



          22   question is finished before you start to answer.



          23   That's something everybody tends to do, but makes it



          24   very difficult for the court reporter to take down



          25   the testimony when we do that.  If you don't
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           1   understand a question, please let me know and I will



           2   rephrase the question so that you understand it.  If



           3   you're going to -- we don't want you to guess, but



           4   if you're going to give an estimate, please let us



           5   know that it's an estimate of time or distance or



           6   anything like that.  All right?  If you need a break



           7   at any time during the deposition, just ask and



           8   you'll get a break.



           9          A    Okay.



          10          Q    You may hear objections interposed



          11   during your testimony.  Just wait until the



          12   objections's finished, then you can answer the



          13   question.  All right?  Do you have any questions



          14   before we get started?



          15          A    No.



          16          Q    Where do you reside?



          17          A    Twenty -- here in St. Louis.



          18          Q    Could you give your address, please?



          19          A    2617 Melvin.



          20          Q    And how old are you, sir?



          21          A    50.



          22          Q    Are you familiar with who the plaintiffs



          23   are in this lawsuit?  Do you know their names?



          24          A    I've been introduced to them, yeah.  Oh,



          25   the plaintiffs?  No.
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           1          Q    Do you know Michael Ferguson?



           2          A    No.



           3          Q    Do you know Benjamin Unger?



           4          A    No.



           5          Q    You know Chaim Levin?



           6          A    Uh-uh.



           7            MR. McCOY:  Sheldon Bruck.



           8        Q    (By Mr. Laffey) Do you know Sheldon Bruck?



           9          A    No.



          10            MR. LAFFEY:  Thanks for helping me out.



          11        Q    (By Mr. Laffey) Do you know Arthur



          12   Goldberg, one of the defendants in this action?



          13          A    Yes.



          14          Q    And do you know Alan Downing?



          15          A    Yes.



          16          Q    Do you know Elaine Berke?



          17          A    No.



          18          Q    How do you know Arthur Goldberg?



          19          A    I have staffed a couple Journey into



          20   Manhood's with him.



          21          Q    How do you know Alan Downing?



          22          A    Same.  I have staffed a couple with him.



          23   I have also -- I was also in the first Journey into



          24   Manhood with him.  He -- um-hmm.



          25          Q    When did you first attend a JIM weekend?
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           1          A    I don't know the year.  Best estimate



           2   was like 2001, 2002.



           3          Q    And, well, let me ask you this:  Why did



           4   you attend a JIM weekend?



           5          A    Because I was questioning my sexuality.



           6          Q    When did that first start?



           7          A    Probably when I was about five or six.



           8          Q    And did that -- how old were you,



           9   approximately, when you attended the JIM weekend?



          10          A    It would have been around 38, 39.



          11          Q    Did you have questions about your



          12   sexuality consistently between the ages of five or



          13   six and when you first attended a JIM weekend?



          14          A    Did you say consistently?



          15          Q    Yes.



          16          A    I'd say not consistently, no.



          17          Q    Okay.  Well, describe to me what you



          18   mean by questions about your sexuality.



          19          A    I had -- how do I describe it?  Sorry.



          20   I'm blanking out.  Likings for other men, interests



          21   in other men that displayed a lot of confidence.



          22   Yeah.



          23          Q    Was it a sexual interest?



          24          A    No.



          25          Q    How would you --
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           1          A    Let me rephrase that.  It was -- it



           2   was -- it wasn't sexual, no.  It wasn't sexual.  It



           3   was -- no.



           4          Q    How would you describe it?  Can you



           5   describe it a little better for us?



           6          A    A wanting to be with them, a wanting to



           7   be like them.  I'd say it came from a low self



           8   esteem at the time.  It was when I was feeling not



           9   so good about myself.



          10          Q    So you said that those feelings were



          11   inconsistent between ages five and six and when you



          12   attended your first JIM weekend.  Explain to me how



          13   they waxed and waned over the years.



          14          A    They manifest when stress was high in my



          15   life due to big changes in my life.  Yeah.



          16          Q    Okay.  And was there anything in



          17   particular that triggered your going to a JIM



          18   weekend?



          19          A    Well, I had just gotten divorced and,



          20   yeah, there was a man in the Mankind Project that I



          21   knew and hung out with that was gay, lived the



          22   lifestyle, and what was your question again?



          23          Q    Well, what were the triggers that --



          24   that made you want to go to the JIM weekend?



          25          A    That man kept trying to encourage me or
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           1   push me to experiment, you know, to date other men.



           2   And I didn't feel like that's what I wanted to do.



           3   So the JIM weekend came up at a pretty opportune



           4   time.



           5          Q    Had you done -- prior to going to the



           6   JIM weekend, had you done anything else to address



           7   these feelings?



           8          A    Right prior to it, I was attending --



           9   what was it I attended?  I'd gone to a Lutheran -- I



          10   don't know -- minister, whatever you call them.  I'm



          11   not Lutheran, I'm Catholic, but I went to this



          12   minister and spoke to him.  I'd also attended



          13   some -- the Catholic support group for people



          14   struggling with same sex attraction.  I can't



          15   remember the name of it.



          16          Q    Would that be Exodus?



          17          A    Exodus, yeah.



          18          Q    Was there anything else you did before



          19   you went to a JIM weekend?



          20          A    Anything else that I did before the JIM



          21   weekend that led up to it, that searching?



          22          Q    Yeah, that you did to address your



          23   confusion that you told us about.



          24          A    Not that I can recall.



          25          Q    What was the Mankind Project?
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           1          A    Oh, well, that was -- that's a men's



           2   initiation support group.  It's a weekend that went



           3   on in two-thousand -- in 1997.



           4          Q    Do the weekends have a particular name?



           5          A    New Warrior Training, Mankind Project.



           6   Put on the by the Mankind Project.



           7          Q    Why did you attend that?



           8          A    Because I've always been interested in



           9   self growth and interested in relationships with men



          10   other than sports and drinking, which I don't do



          11   either of.



          12          Q    When you say you were confused about



          13   your sexuality, do you mean that you thought you



          14   might be a homosexual?



          15          A    I thought I might be bisexual.



          16          Q    You testified you weren't sexually



          17   aroused by men, correct?



          18          A    That's correct.



          19          Q    But even -- even though you still had



          20   doubts about what your sexual orientation was?



          21          A    Correct.



          22          Q    You went to a Lutheran minister?



          23          A    Um-hmm.



          24          Q    What did he -- what did you do with him



          25   to address these issues?
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           1          A    Spoke to him.  I had a lot of -- a



           2   tremendous amount of anxiety at the time.  Can't



           3   really describe in words how tremendous it was, but



           4   I tend to be OCD and hyperactive, ADD.  And so, I



           5   don't know what's that got to do with it, other than



           6   I was on panic.  I went to him -- what he said was



           7   he didn't really -- he didn't really have any



           8   answers.  He really didn't have any guidance.  He



           9   just said maybe you're doing this -- maybe you've



          10   got these thoughts to rebel against your parents.



          11   And, you know, nothing else really sticks out in my



          12   mind other than that.



          13          Q    How many times did you speak to him?



          14          A    Once.



          15          Q    Just once?  Do you recall about when



          16   that was?



          17          A    It was about a year, I'd say, before I



          18   went into the Journey into Manhood where I met Alan



          19   Downing.



          20          Q    You testified you went to Exodus



          21   meetings?



          22          A    Yes.



          23          Q    Was that before or after the meeting you



          24   saw this Lutheran --



          25          A    After the Lutheran.  I think he
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           1   suggested those meetings.



           2          Q    And what did you do at Exodus meetings?



           3          A    It was a support group.  Having --



           4   having a hard time recalling, but, you know, we just



           5   went around and just spoke about what was going on



           6   for us.



           7          Q    Now, was that before or after you did



           8   the New Warrior's training?



           9          A    That was after.



          10          Q    So how did you find out about JIM



          11   weekends?



          12          A    At the Exodus meeting, after I've been



          13   going there for probably about two months and



          14   someone brought in a book, Richard Cohen's book,



          15   Coming Out Straight.  I just flipped through the



          16   book and there was an example of a man that had gone



          17   through the New Warrior Training and struggled and



          18   so I -- I contacted Richard Cohen and asked for that



          19   man to call me.



          20          Q    And who was that man?



          21          A    It was Rich Wyler.



          22          Q    And did Mr. Wyler call you?



          23          A    Yeah, we talked.



          24          Q    And how long was that before the JIM



          25   weekend?
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           1          A    Probably about six months.



           2          Q    Okay.  And as a result of your contact



           3   with Rich Wyler, that's how you wound up attending a



           4   JIM weekend, I assume?



           5          A    Yeah, Rich called me, I don't know,



           6   three to four months later after talking to him.



           7   Let me back up.  Yeah, let me back up.  We met -- he



           8   was here on business in St. Louis and we met at a



           9   restaurant.  We talked.  And then like I'd say three



          10   months -- that was like three months and then three



          11   months later we had the weekend.  He called me and



          12   said, Hey, I'm going to be putting on this weekend,



          13   would you be interested?



          14          Q    And where was the weekend held?



          15          A    Somewhere east.  I don't know.  I just



          16   flew in and they drove me there.  I think it was in



          17   Virginia, but I'm not sure.



          18          Q    So, tell me what was done at the



          19   weekend.



          20          A    There was guts work.  There was



          21   recognizing traits that we have in ourselves and



          22   other men.  There were exercises like that.  There



          23   was also -- the men would walk up to who they're



          24   most attracted to physically and who they most



          25   trust, who they distrust the most.  Exercises like
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           1   that.



           2          Q    What's guts work?



           3          A    A way of getting feelings that are



           4   bottled up inside a person.  Somebody has a charge



           5   about something, it's a safe way to discharge



           6   energy.



           7          Q    Give me an example of some of those



           8   exercises.



           9          A    Tennis rackets, hitting pillows,



          10   yelling, visceral gut sounds coming up that we may



          11   have in our gut that we want to feel and get in



          12   touch with.



          13          Q    Did anyone tell you what to yell when



          14   you were hitting your pillow?



          15          A    No.  They might give some encouragement



          16   saying, Yeah, yeah, do it again, hit him again, if



          17   it was a role playing of one of my parents or



          18   something like that.



          19          Q    But nobody -- nobody told you what -- or



          20   did anyone tell you what the pillow was supposed to



          21   represent or tell you what to say?



          22          A    I learned that all on New Warrior.



          23   Yeah, that the pillow represents, you know,



          24   whatever, feeling, a person, whatever.



          25          Q    And nobody at the JIM weekend told you
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           1   what person or feeling the pillow should represent



           2   when you did that exercise, you decided that on your



           3   own?



           4            MR. DINIELLI:  Objection.  Leading.



           5          A    I don't recall.



           6        Q    (By Mr. Laffey) What other -- and you -- I



           7   assume you participated in that exercise?



           8          A    Yes.



           9          Q    What other exercises were there that



          10   were guts work?



          11          A    Man, I don't recall.  I do -- I can tell



          12   you that Rich Wyler, you know, came up with a



          13   protocol and that -- I don't know.  I liked it.



          14          Q    Are you familiar with an exercise called



          15   the gauntlet?



          16          A    I'm sure I am.  I'd have to be reminded



          17   of it.  I don't --



          18          Q    Are you familiar with an exercise where



          19   you have to break through a group of men and reach



          20   balls or oranges at the other end?



          21          A    Oh, yeah, um-hmm.



          22          Q    Do you know what's that called?



          23          A    Yeah.



          24          Q    What's it's called?



          25          A    Get your balls back.
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           1          Q    Okay.  What's the purpose of that



           2   exercise?  What's your understanding of the purpose



           3   of it?



           4          A    It's a psychodynamic exercise to see how



           5   much the man really wants to -- if he really wants



           6   to change what's going on in his life and it



           7   represents it in a physical way and if he really



           8   doesn't want it he's not going to push as hard.



           9          Q    And did you do that exercise?



          10          A    I don't recall ever doing that exercise.



          11          Q    Did you ever see that exercise before?



          12          A    Oh, yeah, um-hmm.  Sorry.



          13          Q    Were you given a choice of which



          14   exercises you wanted to participate in?



          15          A    Oh, yeah.  Whatever exercise I wanted to



          16   do -- matter of fact, I wanted to do an exercise and



          17   there wasn't enough time and I stepped back and let



          18   another man go.  We've been friends ever since.  He



          19   called me and thanked me because I felt like he



          20   really needed to do it more than I did.



          21          Q    So were any of the exercises mandatory?



          22          A    No.  You could choose not to participate



          23   if you didn't want to participate.



          24          Q    Were there any exercises that involved



          25   nudity?

�



                                                                      19





           1          A    No.



           2          Q    Not at this weekend?



           3          A    Not at that weekend.  In Warriors, there



           4   was, a couple.



           5          Q    Was that the only JIM weekend you ever



           6   attended?



           7          A    I staffed two other Journey into Manhood



           8   weekends.  One in New York.  One in Chicago.



           9          Q    Was there any -- were there any



          10   exercises involving nudity at either one of those?



          11          A    No.



          12          Q    What years did you do those, if you



          13   recall?



          14          A    Fairly soon after I did the original



          15   JIM, probably -- they were both done probably within



          16   the first four years, I'd say.



          17          Q    As a staff member, do you also



          18   participate in the exercises yourself?



          19          A    We -- we -- as we were formulating with



          20   the other staff members, if we had a charge about



          21   something that's going on, we would go through an



          22   exercise.  I would never participate.  I would help



          23   participate, you know, other -- whatever you want to



          24   call them -- clients or staff members going through



          25   it.  Not staff members, but help me out.  I
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           1   don't know.



           2          Q    Members.



           3          A    Members going through.  I've also



           4   staffed two Journey Beyond.



           5          Q    What was the effect of attending this



           6   JIM weekend on you?



           7          A    It helped solidify -- it helped solidify



           8   and it helped me process who I am, what do I want,



           9   and, you know, yeah.



          10          Q    Did it have any effect on your confusion



          11   about your sexuality?



          12          A    Yeah.  I mean, it had -- it lessened --



          13   the connection that I got with other men was more



          14   authentic and felt real.  I felt so much more at



          15   ease.  My anxiety dropped tremendously after doing



          16   the first JIM and then after doing the other ones,



          17   the staffing ones, I got more and more okay in my



          18   masculinity and in my -- what my true desires were.



          19   My true desire was to get close to men and that --



          20   yeah.



          21          Q    After the JIM weekend, did you engage in



          22   any other therapy or activities to address your



          23   confusion?



          24          A    I'm sorry, can you say that again?



          25          Q    After the JIM weekend --
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           1          A    Yeah.



           2          Q    Did you engage in any other therapy or



           3   activities to address your issues of confusion about



           4   your sexual identity?



           5          A    Yeah, I spoke to Alan Downing from time



           6   to time.  He was very helpful.  And I would chat



           7   with Dave -- I would chat with somebody else from



           8   the weekend.  Yeah.



           9          Q    So, just speak to the people you met at



          10   the weekend?



          11          A    Correct.



          12          Q    You weren't in any organized support



          13   groups or anything like that?



          14          A    Not locally.  And no, no, it was just



          15   something -- no.



          16          Q    Okay.  And how is your confusion about



          17   your sexual identity today?



          18          A    It's like very minimal.  Very, very



          19   minimal.  And there's one friend that I have, he



          20   seems all perfect, he seems real perfect, he seems



          21   polished, seems always to be confident.  And I have



          22   some confusion sometimes with him where like I want



          23   to kiss him.  Not a passionate kiss but like a



          24   loving kiss, you know, and yet I don't -- I never



          25   have and I don't get aroused.  So --
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           1          Q    Are you married?



           2          A    Yeah.



           3          Q    Do you have children?



           4          A    I have one child.  One daughter.  My



           5   wife has three.  My daughter -- yeah.  Go ahead.



           6          Q    Your daughter's from a different



           7   relationship?



           8          A    She's from a different relationship.



           9   She's not from the first marriage.  She's from a



          10   relationship before I was married.



          11          Q    And have you ever had -- if I asked you



          12   this already, I apologize.  Have you ever had sex



          13   with a man?



          14          A    No.



          15          Q    Obviously you've had sex with a woman?



          16          A    Yes.



          17          Q    And you have what you consider a normal



          18   sexual life with your wife?



          19          A    Very.  Yeah.



          20          Q    So, tell me about your meeting Arthur



          21   Goldberg.



          22          A    Very passionate, driven man.  I know his



          23   story.  I don't know what's confidential and what's



          24   not about his story, but I know his story and why he



          25   is so passionate about it.
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           1          Q    Well, tell us what you know about his



           2   story.



           3          A    Well, I believe that his son lives a gay



           4   lifestyle and that that's why he's so passionate



           5   about it.  Because he just wants -- he wants to help



           6   other men.  And what was I going to say?  Well, the



           7   last weekend I attended, which was probably about



           8   five or six years ago, he had not missed one weekend



           9   from what the guys were saying, which I found



          10   astounding.  And just cracked me up.  I mean, he's



          11   just a really likable guy.



          12          Q    So he's been at all three weekends that



          13   you've attended?



          14          A    Oh, yeah.



          15          Q    Have you had any contact with him



          16   outside those meetings?



          17          A    No.



          18          Q    Okay.  Have you heard him speak at those



          19   meetings at all?  Did he ever talk or --



          20          A    Not to the group of men, no.  Talked



          21   when we were amongst the staff members, yeah.



          22          Q    Did you ever see him pressure or try to



          23   force anybody into engaging in any of the activities



          24   at the JIM weekend?



          25          A    No.
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           1          Q    Did you ever hear him at the weekend



           2   refer to homosexuality as a mental illness?



           3          A    No.



           4          Q    So, tell me about what you know about



           5   Alan Downing.  How did you meet him?  At the first



           6   weekend?



           7          A    I met him at the first weekend.  Called



           8   me up, told me how much I -- he connected with me on



           9   the weekend due to my guts work, and he was just a



          10   man of integrity.  He's helped me with -- I don't



          11   want to say too many of my vulnerabilities, but he's



          12   helped me with my vulnerabilities with my issues



          13   that any man would have, or any person would have,



          14   be it self esteem, and but he called me because he



          15   saw me do guts work and he was touched by that and,



          16   you know, we've talked ever since.  A lot at first



          17   and maybe now once a year, something like that.



          18          Q    All on the telephone?



          19          A    Yeah, except for the times that I've



          20   staffed with him.  Which I've seen him work like



          21   tirelessly.  Him and another man that staffed that



          22   we would -- well, we would just laugh at how many



          23   exercises and what -- they were trying to figure out



          24   what exercises would be the best exercises and we



          25   were just like, For God's sake, just anything's
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           1   going to work.  You know, the magic's there, it's



           2   going to work.



           3          Q    Did he charge you for any of the work



           4   you did with him outside of JIM?



           5          A    No, he did not.  And when I staffed --



           6   no, I mean, they fed us and everything.  And going



           7   back to my wife, though, I mean, I have a



           8   tremendously great relationship with my wife and I



           9   mean sexually, emotionally, it's everything I



          10   dreamed of.



          11          Q    Does she know about your issues with



          12   your sexuality?



          13          A    She does, yeah.  She understands that



          14   it's not -- you know, when she first met me, I told



          15   her about it and it scared her.  And since then I've



          16   been more and more concrete about that it's just



          17   something that I desired in other men.  It's not



          18   anything that's threatening to our marriage in any



          19   sexual way or anything like that.  She had a hard



          20   time understanding it at first.



          21          Q    Why do you think you have -- had this



          22   confusion?



          23          A    I was physically abused by both my



          24   parents, emotionally abused, and then at school, in



          25   grade school, didn't feel liked, was ousted, was the
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           1   loner, was the one that everybody fought with



           2   physically and felt like I was on the outside



           3   looking in all the time, so --



           4          Q    When you say you were physically abused



           5   by your parents, was this -- did that involve any



           6   sexual abuse?



           7          A    No.



           8            MR. LAFFEY:  I think I'm just about done.



           9    Give me a minute to -- why don't we take a short



          10    break.  Can we do that?



          11            MR. McCOY:  Sure.



          12            VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 10:37.  We are



          13    off the record.



          14             (Break taken.)



          15            VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 10:48.  We're



          16    back on the record.



          17        Q    (By Mr. Laffey) Just a few more questions



          18   from me.  You mentioned that you have -- have OCD?



          19          A    Yes.



          20          Q    Was that diagnosed by a doctor?



          21          A    Yes, uh-huh.



          22          Q    Psychiatrist?



          23          A    Psychiatrist.



          24          Q    Did you see a psychiatrist about that?



          25          A    Yes.
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           1          Q    Are you on medication for it?



           2          A    Yes.  Not any more.  I'm on -- I take an



           3   antidepressant now and that takes care of the



           4   anxiety and the depression, but I was taking



           5   something also for the ADD, but that's really hard



           6   on my heart, so I stopped taking that.



           7          Q    Why did you stop taking medication for



           8   the OCD?



           9          A    Age.  Just felt like I'm getting -- just



          10   feel more mellow.  Feel more confident.



          11          Q    Is your OCD worse when you're under



          12   stress?



          13          A    Oh, God yeah.  That's when, you know,



          14   yeah, when I'm unsure about myself, that I'm trying



          15   to control it outside of myself by doing OCD stuff.



          16   I'm pretty -- pretty stress free.



          17          Q    I'm going to ask you a question and if



          18   you can't answer a question, by the way, that's



          19   okay.  But is there one word you would use to



          20   describe your confusion or, I'm sorry, your



          21   attraction to men?



          22          A    One word used to describe it.  Trickery.



          23          Q    Can you explain that?



          24          A    It was not as it appeared.



          25          Q    How did it appear?
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           1          A    Well, according to the guy that I told



           2   you about earlier that when I -- after I got



           3   divorced, that I should act on these feelings and



           4   act on, you know, and I just knew it wasn't right.



           5   I just knew it wasn't right.  And I just felt like



           6   it was a God thing that I found what I found.  I



           7   felt like I was being -- I was being led to the



           8   place to where I discovered that book.  I just felt



           9   like that was what I was supposed to do.



          10          Q    But you said your attraction to men was



          11   not as it seemed, that it was trickery?



          12          A    Right.



          13          Q    Explain.  What did it seem like that it



          14   wasn't?



          15          A    It seemed like that I was -- that if I



          16   admired men and I saw men, what I saw in my mind was



          17   trickery to me.  It was like I saw some men in times



          18   of stress in my life that seemed like they had it



          19   all together and I'd want to be around them and I'd



          20   think to myself, maybe that means that I'm supposed



          21   to be with men as well as women.  Maybe I'm



          22   bisexual, you know, and so I thought -- yeah, that's



          23   what I thought.



          24          Q    Okay.  So when you went to your first



          25   JIM weekend, did you have any goals?
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           1          A    Yeah, to -- I wanted to have it all



           2   figured out by the end of the weekend.



           3          Q    Did you have any realistic goals?



           4          A    To -- yeah, you know, I felt like I had



           5   support.  I knew I had support before I went.  That



           6   was my goal; to have support and have some sort of



           7   sense of community, even though it wasn't local.



           8   I've just always kind of trusted in the process.



           9          Q    So did you -- did you partially or fully



          10   reach your goals?



          11          A    Oh, yeah.  Oh, God yeah.  I've



          12   superseded my goals.



          13          Q    I'm just talking about after the first



          14   weekend.



          15          A    No.  Yeah, I'd say so.  Yeah, yeah.



          16          Q    Okay.  Partially or fully?



          17          A    Fully.



          18            MR. LAFFEY:  Okay.  I don't have any other



          19    questions.



          20            MR. DINIELLI:  Thank you.  I'm happy to



          21    just jump right in, if that makes sense for you.



          22            MR. LAFFEY:  Yes, it does.



          23                       EXAMINATION



          24   BY MR. DINIELLI:



          25          Q    Mr. Palmisano, my name's Dave Dinielli
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           1   and I'll be asking you some questions today as well.



           2   Thank you for your patience with the process.  Can



           3   you tell me how you came to be a witness in this



           4   case?



           5          A    Trying to remember who called me.  I



           6   think it was Alan.  I think Alan called me and asked



           7   me if I would do this.



           8          Q    Are you fairly certain of that or is it



           9   a hazy memory at this point?



          10          A    I'm fairly certain of that.



          11          Q    Can you recall anything about what he



          12   said?



          13          A    He said he'd appreciate if I would -- if



          14   I would do this deposition for him, that he feels



          15   like -- that's about it, really.



          16          Q    Mr. Downing's a pretty important person



          17   to you in your life, correct?



          18          A    At times.



          19          Q    You indicated that he had reached out to



          20   you after a JIM weekend?



          21          A    Right.



          22          Q    To connect?



          23          A    Um-hmm.



          24          Q    And you've indicated that he told you



          25   that he was particularly impressed with your gut
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           1   work?



           2          A    Yeah.



           3          Q    Guts work?



           4          A    Yeah.  Yeah.



           5          Q    And that he felt a connection to you as



           6   a result of that guts work?



           7          A    Correct.



           8          Q    What was that like for you to receive



           9   that phone call and get that praise?



          10          A    It was affirmative.  Felt supported from



          11   another man.



          12          Q    Anything else?



          13          A    No.



          14          Q    Is that something that you feel has been



          15   lacking in your life up until your experience with



          16   the JIM weekends and other efforts; to feel



          17   supported by other men?



          18          A    To feel supported, is that what you



          19   said?



          20          Q    Yes.



          21          A    Yes.



          22          Q    In a bit I'm going to ask you a little



          23   bit about your childhood.  You indicated there were



          24   some difficulties and we'll get to that.  I'll try



          25   to explore that with you.  But I want to confirm for
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           1   now that you've never been to JONAH's offices in New



           2   Jersey, correct?



           3          A    No, I have not.



           4          Q    Were you ever a client in any way of



           5   JONAH?



           6          A    Not of JONAH.



           7          Q    You went to JIM weekends not because of



           8   anything that JONAH did, correct?



           9          A    Correct.



          10          Q    And you indicated that you have stayed



          11   in touch with Mr. Downing subsequent to your first



          12   JIM weekend?



          13          A    Right.



          14          Q    You never employed him as a life coach



          15   or a counselor, did you?



          16          A    No.



          17          Q    So you've never paid any money to him



          18   for any --



          19          A    Correct.  I'm sorry.



          20          Q    We're talking -- I'm sorry, too.  We're



          21   talking over each other.  But let me just finish the



          22   question.  You've never paid any money to him



          23   separate and apart from anything you may have paid



          24   to go to your first JIM weekend?



          25          A    That's right.
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           1          Q    Can you tell me where you grew up?



           2          A    Here in St. Louis.



           3          Q    Describe your childhood for me, if you



           4   can.



           5          A    Raised Catholic, city kid, moved to the



           6   mid county in my teenage years, or to the county,



           7   teenage years, loner and loved bicycling, loved



           8   football, didn't play professionally, dad didn't



           9   want me to get hurt, but played a lot on the



          10   weekends without any pads or anything, so I probably



          11   got hurt even worse, so --



          12          Q    Tell me about your Catholic upbringing.



          13          A    It was strict upbringing.  Went to all



          14   the saint days, went to church on all the days even



          15   during the week, and went to school, parochial



          16   school, until sixth grade.



          17          Q    Was church important to you when you



          18   were young?



          19          A    Yeah.  Yes and no.  I mean, yeah, it



          20   was.  And then it was one of those things where as



          21   humans we think where's God when I need him -- when



          22   I need him?



          23          Q    What were the circumstances in which you



          24   questioned where God was?



          25          A    Just feeling so lonely a lot, you know,
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           1   just --



           2          Q    What was the school work like for you?



           3   Did that come easily or was that difficult?



           4          A    Difficult.



           5          Q    Were you ever diagnosed with a learning



           6   disability?



           7          A    Yes.



           8          Q    What was that?



           9          A    That things that were said to me, unless



          10   I saw the picture, I didn't understand it.  I don't



          11   know what --



          12          Q    So regular grade school classes were



          13   difficult for you?



          14          A    Math was difficult as a kid.  Not any



          15   more, but math was difficult.  English.  I liked the



          16   sciences.  And wasn't too bad in science.



          17          Q    You said earlier that both of your



          18   parents abused you.



          19          A    Um-hmm.



          20          Q    Can you describe that a little bit more



          21   for me, please?



          22          A    In detail?  Or I don't know.



          23          Q    I don't need to go into all the details,



          24   but why don't we just stick with your mom and



          25   describe for me what was it about her and what she
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           1   did to you that caused you to say that she abused



           2   you.



           3          A    Hitting with her hands, you know, wait



           4   until dad gets home, one of those things.



           5          Q    Was she patient or impatient about some



           6   of the problems you had at school?



           7          A    She was pretty patient.  She really



           8   tried to help.



           9          Q    How about your dad?



          10          A    Was not patient with the school stuff.



          11   Wasn't really there for that.  Wasn't involved with



          12   my sports stuff.  He -- you know, he provided.  He



          13   was gone a lot, worked a lot of overtime, and got



          14   some beatings, you know, I don't know what to say.



          15   You know.



          16          Q    What kind of job did he have?



          17          A    He was a meat cutter.



          18          Q    Did your mom work?



          19          A    No.



          20          Q    So the neighborhood you grew up in,



          21   would you describe it as blue collar?  How would you



          22   describe it?



          23          A    Oh, yeah, blue collar.  In my teenage



          24   years, it wasn't -- I'd say it was blue and white



          25   collar.
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           1          Q    Do you have siblings?



           2          A    Two.



           3          Q    Older, younger, brothers, sisters?



           4          A    Younger, brothers.



           5          Q    Were they a lot younger, somewhat



           6   younger, how much younger?



           7          A    Seven years and two years younger.



           8          Q    Did you get along with them?



           9          A    Um-hmm, yes.



          10          Q    You said a few times that when you were



          11   young you felt lonely a lot of the time?



          12          A    Um-hmm.



          13          Q    Thinking back during your childhood, did



          14   you have any people that you think of now as close



          15   friends?



          16          A    No, I don't hang out with any of them.



          17          Q    Maybe my question wasn't clear.



          18   Thinking now about that time, can you think of



          19   anyone who at that time was a close friend?



          20          A    Yes.



          21          Q    Okay.  Who were they?



          22          A    A friend in school, through -- I'd say I



          23   had like one friend that was a really good friend



          24   down through the grade school.  And then two through



          25   junior high and high school.
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           1          Q    So, help me out here a little bit



           2   because it sounds like you got along okay with your



           3   brothers and you had at least one friend.



           4          A    Um-hmm.



           5          Q    Help me understand how it was that you



           6   felt like such a loner at that time in your life.



           7          A    Well, when I look at Facebook nowadays



           8   and I see my nephew on there, he has about 10 or 15



           9   kids gather around him from his school.  It's a lot



          10   different than what I had.



          11          Q    So you just didn't have a lot of



          12   friends?



          13          A    Correct.  I had friends that had same



          14   sort of similarities that I had in my consciousness.



          15          Q    What do you mean by that?



          16          A    Well, they thought the same way and they



          17   were probably going through the same sort of issues.



          18          Q    Loneliness?



          19          A    Probably.



          20          Q    Anything else?



          21          A    No.



          22          Q    Earlier you also said that you think you



          23   started having some confusion about your sexuality



          24   early as five or six?



          25          A    Correct.
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           1          Q    Describe for me what that was like.



           2          A    Confusing.  I wanted to be around the



           3   guy, had crushes on girls at school, even at that



           4   age, neighborhood girl down the street.



           5          Q    But you felt a lot of envy or jealousy



           6   towards other guys?



           7          A    Some.



           8          Q    What else did you feel?



           9          A    Jealousy and envy.  I don't -- I don't



          10   think there was anything else.



          11          Q    Can you think of a particular instance



          12   when you were young where you really felt this



          13   jealousy or envy towards a particular boy?



          14          A    Yes.



          15          Q    What do you remember?



          16          A    I remember wanting to hang out with him.



          17   I remember wanting to have -- he had a lot of



          18   friends, like I mentioned earlier about my nephew.



          19   And they all followed him around, so, like I said, I



          20   was jealous and envious of him.



          21          Q    You don't recall that being a sexual



          22   envy or sexual response?



          23          A    No.



          24          Q    Were you bullied at all when you were



          25   young?
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           1          A    Yeah.



           2          Q    What happened to you?



           3          A    Well, the -- it was kind of like a mob



           4   mentality, I guess you'd say.



           5          Q    What does that mean?



           6          A    Where they'd all gather around and one



           7   would push and then I'd turn around and then another



           8   one would push me from the back so that I couldn't



           9   see who was pushing me.



          10          Q    Wow.



          11          A    Um-hmm.



          12          Q    That must have been pretty bad.



          13          A    Pretty bad, yeah.



          14          Q    Did you do anything about it?



          15          A    What are you going to do?  You can't



          16   tell the teachers.  They didn't have -- they didn't



          17   know what to do back then.  They don't handle it



          18   like they do today.  And mom and dad couldn't handle



          19   it.  They're at home.



          20          Q    Did you tell your mom and dad?



          21          A    I don't -- I don't recall.



          22          Q    So that sounds as if that was a pretty



          23   lonely experience.



          24          A    Correct.  Yeah.



          25            MR. DINIELLI:  We've got to change the tape
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           1    so why don't we do that now.



           2            VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 11:08.  We are



           3    off the record.  This conclude Tape 1.



           4             (Break taken.)



           5            VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 11:17 and we are



           6    back on the record.  This begins Tape 2.



           7        Q    (By Mr. Dinielli) Welcome back,



           8   Mr. Palmisano.  We just took a break but you'll



           9   remain under oath and any subsequent breaks we take,



          10   you'll remain under oath.  I just want to make



          11   certain that you understand that.



          12          A    Sure.  Um-hmm.



          13          Q    When you were growing up, did you have



          14   any sports or celebrity heros, people you looked up



          15   to in that regard?



          16          A    A couple, you know, I kind of knew of



          17   but I didn't really like study them or you know what



          18   I'm saying?  A couple hockey guys.



          19          Q    Do you remember who they were?



          20          A    Bobby Orr.  And I don't even remember



          21   any others.  That was one of them.



          22          Q    Anyone else you can think of?



          23          A    No.



          24          Q    Okay.  Just kind of moving forward a



          25   little bit in your life now.  We were talking about
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           1   your early childhood.  Let's jump forward to high



           2   school.  Where did you go to high school?



           3          A    Lafayette High School.



           4          Q    That's here in St. Louis?



           5          A    Yes.



           6          Q    Describe that high school for me.



           7          A    I think the graduating class was around



           8   500.  What do you mean?  What -- describe what about



           9   it?



          10          Q    What were the kids like at that high



          11   school?



          12          A    They had their cliques and they still



          13   have their cliques.  I just want to a reunion and



          14   they still got their cliques.  And they're like a



          15   bunch of teenagers, still.  So -- just like when



          16   people say -- it's like this town says what school



          17   did you grow up in.  My wife grew up in California



          18   here and she said it's crazy, it's like a movie.



          19   It's like which high school did you go to, who says



          20   that?



          21          Q    Was high school any easier for you than



          22   your earlier school years?



          23          A    It was easier, yeah.



          24          Q    In what way?



          25          A    Coming to my own of, you know, just -- I
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           1   had -- I had more friends that I'd hang with



           2   bicycling.  And I had my cousin that I could, you



           3   know, drive to his house and so I had a couple more



           4   friends.



           5          Q    Earlier today you described what we've



           6   been calling your sexual confusion.



           7          A    Um-hmm.



           8          Q    And just to be clear, you've never



           9   considered yourself to be gay, correct?



          10          A    Correct.



          11          Q    But you've been confused at times about



          12   whether you might be bisexual?



          13          A    Correct.



          14          Q    Did you have any of this confusion while



          15   you were in high school?



          16          A    Yes.



          17          Q    Tell me what the circumstances were.



          18          A    You know, still -- still not getting



          19   along with my father and my mom.  That's where I was



          20   diagnosed with the learning disability stuff, which



          21   I think it was all just stress.  And there were



          22   certain athletes that I was jealous of, you know,



          23   they had -- they had the guys coming up to them and



          24   talking to them and they had the women attracted to



          25   them and I wanted both, so --
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           1          Q    You wanted to be as popular as they



           2   were?



           3          A    Yeah.  Um-hmm.  I wanted to be liked.  I



           4   wanted to be popular.  I wanted to be in their



           5   clique.



           6          Q    Were you in any clique?



           7          A    No.



           8          Q    Were you in any activities or clubs or



           9   sports?



          10          A    I played soccer when I was -- but that



          11   was way back when.  And I quit.  Didn't even follow



          12   through.  No, we were not in any -- I was not in any



          13   club sports, anything like that.



          14          Q    You've indicated that there have been



          15   times when you've had low self esteem.



          16          A    Um-hmm.



          17          Q    Did you ever experience that in high



          18   school at times?



          19          A    Yes.



          20          Q    What were the circumstances in which



          21   you'd feel low self esteem?



          22          A    Well, like I said, I guess -- I think it



          23   was not -- you know, I wasn't -- I was a C student.



          24   You know, I'd try as much as I could to get better



          25   grades and I couldn't get better grades.  I was
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           1   better with my hands than I was in my head because I



           2   took shop courses, but just didn't feel like -- just



           3   didn't feel like I could connect to other people in



           4   class, you know, I just -- just didn't have whatever



           5   they had is what I told myself at the time.



           6          Q    Did you go to prom?



           7          A    No.



           8          Q    At your high school, were there any kids



           9   that you knew to be gay?



          10          A    I knew of some guys that I suspected



          11   were gay.



          12          Q    But they weren't open about it?



          13          A    No.



          14          Q    Were they treated any differently than



          15   other kids?



          16          A    I was not that close to them to even



          17   know.  I seen them, you know, it was a pretty big



          18   school.  I seen them walking here and there.  They



          19   seemed pretty popular.



          20          Q    Did you have any reaction to your own



          21   suspicion that these other kids might be gay?



          22          A    I think -- I'd say I was a little



          23   homophobic.



          24          Q    What do you mean by that?



          25          A    I think I was afraid.  I mean, just -- I
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           1   was afraid of that they would want something or



           2   something, you know, if I became friends with them



           3   or talked to them or whatever.  Something I



           4   didn't -- I did not want to go there.



           5            MR. DINIELLI:  We're going to go off the



           6    record for just a second, please.



           7            VIDEOGRAPHER:  Time is 11:24.  We are off



           8    the record.



           9             (Break taken.)



          10            VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 11:26.  We are



          11    back on the record.



          12        Q    (By Mr. Dinielli) Mr. Palmisano, before



          13   our break, we were talking about your high school



          14   experiences.  Did you have sexual attractions to



          15   girls during high school?



          16          A    Yes.



          17          Q    On a scale of, say, zero to ten, ten



          18   being the strongest, how would you describe the



          19   strength of your sexual attraction to girls during



          20   high school?



          21          A    Ten.



          22          Q    Did you have a girlfriend at any time in



          23   high school?



          24          A    Yeah, she wasn't at the school, though.



          25          Q    Okay.  And tell me about that
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           1   relationship.



           2          A    We did what couples do.  We'd go down to



           3   the park.  There's a county park.  We'd go down



           4   there after -- she was -- I met her at work, you



           5   know, we'd go down to the county park.  Dated a



           6   couple girls from that place where I worked and, you



           7   know, lasted months.



           8          Q    How old were you when you first had sex



           9   with a woman?



          10          A    19.



          11          Q    Was it during high school, after high



          12   school?



          13          A    After.



          14          Q    Did that feel natural to you?



          15          A    Yes.



          16          Q    Do you recall when you graduated from



          17   high school?



          18          A    1982.



          19          Q    What did you do after that?



          20          A    I went to a trade school, studied HVAC.



          21   I went to the community college before I went to the



          22   trade school, actually, for about a year.  And then



          23   went to the trade school, had a full-time job, went



          24   back to the community college and studied for the



          25   next ten years just learning stuff.
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           1          Q    I want to jump forward now and ask if



           2   you're employed now.



           3          A    Yes.



           4          Q    What do you do?



           5          A    I do service work for a gas company



           6   here.



           7          Q    How long have you done that?



           8          A    Twenty -- almost 27 years.



           9          Q    What's your title now?



          10          A    I'm a fitter.



          11          Q    27 years, you should be able to retire



          12   pretty soon.



          13          A    True.



          14          Q    And how old are you now?



          15          A    50.



          16          Q    So you've been at the gas company since



          17   you were around 23?



          18          A    Correct.  23.



          19          Q    I don't need to know every single thing



          20   you've done in the last 27 years with the gas



          21   company, but if you could sketch out your trajectory



          22   there; what you started doing, what you wound up



          23   doing, how you got there.



          24          A    Well, I've been doing that ever since



          25   I've been doing -- I do -- I was doing diagnosing
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           1   leaks, house inspections, I had to go to people's



           2   residences and some commercial jobs, find leaks,



           3   repair them, work with construction crews in



           4   emergency type situations, sometimes.



           5          Q    You indicated that you have one



           6   daughter?



           7          A    Right.



           8          Q    How old were you when she was born?



           9          A    Well, she's going to be 30.  I was 20.



          10          Q    Were you dating her mom at the time?



          11          A    Right.



          12          Q    How long did you date her mom?



          13          A    It was an off and on thing.  Two and a



          14   half years.



          15          Q    Describe your sexual life with her.



          16          A    It was wonderful.  Felt natural.  It was



          17   wonderful.



          18          Q    At some point that relationship ended?



          19          A    Correct.



          20          Q    And at some point you got married for



          21   the first time?



          22          A    Right.  I think I got married -- it was



          23   '93, so my daughter was nine then.  No, wait a



          24   minute.  My daughter was '84 -- she was born in '84,



          25   so --
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           1          Q    How long did that marriage last?



           2          A    Seven years.



           3          Q    Again, earlier today you said that when



           4   that marriage was ending you were feeling a lot of



           5   stress?



           6          A    Correct.



           7          Q    What were the issues in that marriage?



           8          A    Well, I felt at the time like she was my



           9   best friend and yet she -- ever since -- ever since



          10   day one she had issues with -- I don't know.  You



          11   know, I don't know how much to say here because I



          12   think that's her privacy, but I'll say that she was



          13   depressed most of the time.  I would go to family



          14   functions and out in public and I'd be alone.  And



          15   she was depressed and it got worse and worse over



          16   time.



          17          Q    Let me put it this way, because I don't



          18   need to intrude too deeply into that.  Were there



          19   any issues in that marriage relating in any way to



          20   your sexual confusion?



          21          A    No.



          22          Q    And can you describe your sex life with



          23   her?



          24          A    Well, that's what I was trying to avoid.



          25   I mean, I was fine.  She was not.
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           1          Q    This was a source of stress for you?



           2          A    Oh, yeah.



           3          Q    And did this stress in any way cause or



           4   contribute to any confusion that you were feeling



           5   about your sexuality?



           6          A    I'd say it was more that I wanted to



           7   have an affair but I didn't.  I didn't want to -- I



           8   just, you know, I just have too much integrity.  I



           9   didn't want to do that to her or I just, you know, I



          10   was sworn.  I did not want to dishonor some oath



          11   that I had to her.



          12          Q    Just to be clear --



          13          A    In a heterosexual way, I did not want to



          14   have another affair with another woman.  So --



          15          Q    About when did that marriage end?



          16          A    About 1999.



          17          Q    And then in terms of your personal life,



          18   what happened after that marriage ended?



          19          A    I was on my own in a house.



          20          Q    Did you have custody of your daughter at



          21   any time?



          22          A    No.  Never.



          23          Q    Not even shared custody?



          24          A    I had her on the weekends and I had her



          25   on one night of the weekend and during the week and
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           1   she moved to Colorado when she was ten.  Her mom got



           2   married to some guy in Colorado.



           3          Q    Okay.  So back to -- we were describing



           4   your personal life after your marriage ended in 1999



           5   and you said you were on your own in your own house.



           6   What happened next in terms of your intimate life,



           7   your relationships?



           8          A    Well, I had gone through the New Warrior



           9   experience, so I had some really good friends at the



          10   time, I felt.  And I would go out to eat quite a bit



          11   to mingle, get support, and -- yeah, worked around



          12   the house, you know.



          13          Q    Okay.  Tell me when you got married a



          14   second time.



          15          A    That was in 2007.



          16          Q    Okay.  We'll get to that a little bit



          17   later, but what I'd really like to do is see if we



          18   can pin down the timeline of some of the things that



          19   you told us you've done in connection with your



          20   confusion, including New Warrior, including JIM



          21   weekend, including talking to a Lutheran minister.



          22   So, best as you can recall, if you got divorced in



          23   1999, correct?  What was the first thing you did to



          24   help you address your sense of confusion about



          25   yourself?
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           1          A    You know, I sought -- you know, I had



           2   friends with the New Warriors, like I said, and I



           3   also had this other friend at the time that lived



           4   the lifestyle, like I said, and I tried to get



           5   counsel through him, but I didn't feel like it was



           6   unbiased.



           7          Q    Okay.  I'm trying to figure out when you



           8   went to New Warriors.  Was that before or after your



           9   first marriage ended?



          10          A    It was before.



          11          Q    And remind me why it is that you went to



          12   New Warriors.



          13          A    Because I wanted a connection with other



          14   men.



          15          Q    I'm sorry, go ahead.



          16          A    In a way that -- in a way that was



          17   talking about something other than sports or



          18   drinking.



          19          Q    And how did you learn about New



          20   Warriors?



          21          A    From a chiropractor that I was going to.



          22   He had fliers there.



          23          Q    How many times did you go to New



          24   Warriors?



          25          A    How many times did I go to it?  Well,
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           1   you go through one weekend and then I staffed two



           2   after that.



           3          Q    You went to the weekend during your



           4   marriage.  Do you know if you staffed the two



           5   weekends during or after your marriage?



           6          A    The first one I staffed was in 1998.



           7   And the next one was after my marriage.



           8          Q    Okay.  And then it was through New



           9   Warriors that you met this person that you've



          10   described before as someone who was living in a gay



          11   lifestyle?



          12          A    Correct.



          13          Q    Where did he live?



          14          A    Here in St. Louis.



          15          Q    Describe for me the kind of things you



          16   guys would do together.



          17          A    We'd go to the zoo, go to the art



          18   museum, we'd go to Botanical Garden.  His daughter



          19   and my daughter were close to the same age so we'd



          20   get together once in a while but, you know, they're



          21   more like teenagers then, so -- and that was when my



          22   daughter was visiting, so it was like short things,



          23   so --



          24          Q    And, to be clear, had he been a



          25   participant in a New Warriors weekend or had he also
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           1   been a staff member?  What was the connection



           2   through New Warriors?



           3          A    He had been a participant.



           4          Q    While you were staffing or while you



           5   were a participant?



           6          A    While I was staffing.



           7          Q    How did it happen that you guys stayed



           8   in touch after the New Warriors weekend?



           9          A    I don't know.



          10          Q    You told me that he was urging you to



          11   act on some of your feelings?



          12          A    Correct.



          13          Q    What was that about?



          14          A    What was it about?



          15          Q    Yeah, tell me what he was saying.



          16          A    You should try dating this guy or that



          17   guy or that guy.



          18          Q    Did you have any attraction towards him?



          19          A    No.



          20          Q    How did you respond when he would say



          21   those things to you?



          22          A    Kind of in a people pleasing way, where



          23   I'd say, Oh, no, you know.



          24          Q    What was it about him that caused you to



          25   want to stay in touch with him?
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           1          A    He had -- he had a lot of genuineness



           2   about him.



           3          Q    He listened to you?



           4          A    Yeah.



           5          Q    He paid attention to you?



           6          A    Yeah.



           7          Q    He was a nice guy?



           8          A    Right.



           9            MR. LAFFEY:  Objection.  Leading.



          10            MR. DINIELLI:  This is cross.



          11            MR. LAFFEY:  You're right.  I'm sorry.



          12    Coffee's wearing off.



          13        Q    (By Mr. Dinielli) Did you stay in touch



          14   with other people from New Warriors in addition to



          15   him?



          16          A    Yes.



          17          Q    How many?



          18          A    Two or three.



          19          Q    But your connection with this individual



          20   we've been discussing, was that the strongest of



          21   your connections?



          22          A    I'd say it matched -- equally matched



          23   another prime one I hang out with still to today.



          24          Q    Was this other person someone who lives



          25   the gay lifestyle?
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           1          A    No.



           2          Q    So the record is clear, New Warriors is



           3   not designed specifically for men who have struggled



           4   with same sex attraction, correct?



           5          A    That's correct.



           6          Q    So, this close friend of yours was



           7   encouraging you to try to date men?



           8          A    Correct.



           9          Q    Correct?  What effect did that have on



          10   you?



          11          A    Would raise the anxiety even more.



          12          Q    How?



          13          A    Well, as I said earlier, I have, you



          14   know, I've had some OCD and stuff and -- can you ask



          15   the question again?  How did it what?



          16          Q    How did it raise your anxiety?



          17          A    Just felt like it wasn't something that



          18   I wanted at a soul level.  It wasn't something that



          19   I wanted and that I needed.



          20          Q    Were you concerned about letting your



          21   friend know -- I'm sorry.



          22          A    I'm sorry.  And yet I just want to say



          23   and yet, you know, the culture here, to me, was



          24   like, well, if you feel it, then you do it and then



          25   I'm like I felt like a wolf going out on my own path
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           1   trying to figure out who I was and what I was doing.



           2   I'm like I'm not following what everybody else says



           3   because it doesn't feel like that.  Thank you.



           4          Q    Did you finally tell your friend that



           5   you weren't going to take his advice?



           6          A    Yeah.



           7          Q    Tell me about that conversation.



           8          A    Well, I cut it off with him, too, you



           9   know, and he was pretty deeply hurt and, you know,



          10   told me I was the only heterosexual friend that he



          11   had and so --



          12          Q    You indicated that at some point you



          13   spoke with a Lutheran minister?



          14          A    Right.



          15          Q    When was that in connection with these



          16   incidents?



          17          A    That was after New Warriors.  It was



          18   before JIM.



          19          Q    Around the time that you were friendly



          20   with this gentleman from New Warriors?



          21          A    Yeah.



          22          Q    And did your experiences with your



          23   friends urging you to date men contribute to your --



          24   contribute to your desire to want to talk to this



          25   Lutheran minister?
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           1          A    Right.  It did.



           2          Q    And so, again, we're trying to establish



           3   the timeline.  The talk with a Lutheran minister, to



           4   your best recollection, occurred before or after you



           5   cut things off with your friend from New Warriors?



           6          A    Before I cut it off.



           7          Q    So, again, walking through the timeline,



           8   we've talked about your weekend and then your



           9   staffing a New Warriors.  We've talked about your



          10   continuing connection with one person in particular



          11   here in St. Louis.  Sometime during the time at



          12   which you were communicating with him you had the



          13   conversation with a Lutheran minister and then at



          14   some point you cut off the relationship with the



          15   friend from New Warriors?



          16          A    Right.



          17          Q    Did the minister in any way encourage



          18   you to cut off your relationship with your friend?



          19          A    No.



          20          Q    And remind me again what the minister



          21   told you.  I'm sorry.  You testified to that but I'd



          22   like to hear it again.



          23          A    The minister -- the only thing I recall



          24   him saying is -- well, two things.  One was the



          25   support groups, Exodus, and there was a number of
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           1   other ones.  He gave me a sheet, some sort of flier,



           2   I guess.  That's my guess.  But he did say maybe I'm



           3   trying to -- maybe I'm doing this in order to rebel



           4   against my parents.



           5          Q    Did that sound right to you at all?



           6          A    No.



           7          Q    Earlier you testified that you had been



           8   to some support groups with Exodus.



           9          A    Correct.



          10          Q    Correct?  I know there's another group



          11   called Courage.  Do you know what that is?



          12          A    I've heard of them.



          13          Q    Did you ever go to any support groups



          14   with the organization called Courage?



          15          A    Who are they affiliated with?



          16          Q    Well, I'm not testifying, but I will



          17   represent that I understand they're affiliated with



          18   the Catholic church.



          19          A    Oh.  I don't think so.



          20          Q    Okay.  The support groups you went to



          21   that were organized by Exodus, these were after your



          22   conversation with the Lutheran minister?



          23          A    I blanked out.  Sorry.



          24          Q    You went to Exodus?



          25          A    Yeah.
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           1          Q    Support groups after you talked to the



           2   Lutheran minister?



           3          A    Correct.



           4          Q    That's because Exodus was one of the



           5   resources that the Lutheran minister had suggested



           6   you explore?



           7          A    Correct.



           8          Q    How long did you go to support groups at



           9   Exodus?



          10          A    About two -- two to three months.



          11          Q    What sort of people were attending those



          12   support groups?



          13          A    People that had struggled with same sex



          14   attraction.  Men and women.



          15          Q    Did those people seem as if they were



          16   like you or dissimilar to you?



          17          A    They felt like they were like me in some



          18   ways, yeah.



          19          Q    What were the ways in which you felt



          20   like they were like you?



          21          A    It was like -- it was more of a feeling



          22   that they were like me.  These are questions I've



          23   never really thought about, I guess.



          24          Q    That's okay.  And you can take your



          25   time.
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           1          A    Yeah, so -- question again?



           2          Q    We were talking about the people that



           3   you went to support groups with at Exodus.  And I



           4   was asking in what way did you feel like them.  And



           5   I'm going to ask in what ways did you feel not like



           6   them?



           7          A    Well, they -- they had -- they had



           8   significant others, had been in relationships, let's



           9   say, they'd struggled.  There's all kind of



          10   different levels and I felt like some of those



          11   people in those levels.



          12          Q    What did you do after Exodus?



          13          A    I stopped going to Exodus once I did the



          14   Journey into Manhood.  It felt like a better support



          15   group, much more.



          16          Q    And remind me how you found out about



          17   Journey into Manhood.



          18          A    From Exodus.  Somebody brought a book



          19   in.



          20          Q    That was the Richard Cohen book?



          21          A    Yes.



          22          Q    And just so the timeline is complete,



          23   you at some point reached out to Rich Wyler?



          24          A    Correct.



          25          Q    And at some point Rich Wyler met with
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           1   you here in St. Louis?



           2          A    Correct.



           3          Q    Do you remember where that was?



           4          A    I think it was at Tony's Restaurant in



           5   the city here.



           6          Q    You met for a meal?



           7          A    Yes.



           8          Q    You don't recall who paid for that, do



           9   you?



          10          A    I didn't.  He ate.  It was late.  I



          11   already ate dinner.



          12          Q    So I would hope that he paid.



          13          A    Yes, I would hope he paid.



          14          Q    And that was several months before you



          15   attended your first JIM weekend?



          16          A    Yes.



          17          Q    Did Mr. Wyler reach out to you at all



          18   again after visiting here in St. Louis?



          19          A    No.



          20          Q    You of course saw him at JIM weekends?



          21          A    Correct.



          22          Q    You said that you think that your first



          23   JIM weekend was somewhere in Virginia?



          24          A    Correct.



          25          Q    So you flew there?
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           1          A    Right.



           2          Q    Were you picked up at the airport?



           3          A    Yes.  They had like a minivan or



           4   something like that.  Somebody rented a van, took us



           5   all.



           6          Q    What were your -- what were your hopes



           7   for that weekend?



           8          A    My hopes I think I said before, were to



           9   get connected to other men and just have some sort



          10   of support.  Someone to talk to about this, about



          11   what was going on for me.



          12          Q    Do you remember whether you were nervous



          13   or apprehensive in that van going off to this



          14   weekend for the first time?



          15          A    No, I was not nervous.  I was -- well,



          16   you know, probably was a little nervous, you know,



          17   just a little bit, but more hopeful.



          18          Q    There were other men in this van?



          19          A    Yes.



          20          Q    Did you guys talk about what was coming



          21   up or was it a quiet ride?



          22          A    Yeah, we talked about what was coming



          23   up.



          24          Q    Do you remember any of the people who



          25   were in that van?
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           1          A    Not a soul.



           2          Q    And at some point you arrived at the



           3   facility where the weekend was going to occur?



           4          A    Right.



           5          Q    What do you remember about your arrival



           6   and getting there and being greeted for the first



           7   time?



           8          A    I remember walking up -- well, the



           9   protocol is -- for JIM was -- I remember men asking



          10   me why I was there, what my intentions were.



          11          Q    That happens as soon as you arrive,



          12   doesn't it?



          13          A    Yes, it did.



          14          Q    And that question was posed by staffers,



          15   isn't it?



          16          A    Correct.



          17          Q    What did you say, if anything?



          18          A    To heal myself.



          19          Q    You've talked earlier about some of



          20   the -- what's called guts work.



          21          A    Yes.



          22          Q    I want to ask about something called



          23   healthy touch.  Do you know what that is?



          24          A    Yes.



          25          Q    What's your understanding of that?
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           1          A    I'm trying to think.  There's -- healthy



           2   touch, that's an exercise, you're saying?



           3          Q    I understand from looking at the script



           4   for the weekend and from other testimony in this



           5   case so far that some of the exercises involve



           6   holding or hugging one another.



           7          A    Yes.  Elders.  That's what I was talking



           8   about.  Where an older or elder will hold another



           9   man and act as his dad.  It's a nurturing exercise.



          10          Q    You said that the elders will act as



          11   dads?



          12          A    They can take that -- yes.  If -- if



          13   that's -- if that's what the client needs.  Whatever



          14   he needs, you know, if -- that was for me.  I wanted



          15   to hear something.  I can tell you that.  I wanted



          16   to hear somebody tell me things that I wish my dad



          17   would have said.



          18          Q    So, did you do this exercise, I'll just



          19   call it healthy touch if that's okay with you,



          20   during your first JIM weekend?



          21          A    Yes.



          22          Q    Do you recall telling someone that you



          23   did, in fact, want the touch of an older person to



          24   meet a need, maybe you felt because your dad was



          25   absent?
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           1          A    I recall asking him to stroke my hair.



           2          Q    Do you remember who the elder was who



           3   did that?



           4          A    I think it was Arthur.  Arthur Goldberg.



           5          Q    Did he say anything about the golden



           6   father energy in this exercise?



           7          A    Yes.



           8          Q    What do you recall?



           9          A    I remember him telling me that he's here



          10   for me and that -- telling me good things about



          11   myself and -- yeah.



          12          Q    Was Mr. Goldberg in physical contact



          13   with you when he was saying those things?



          14          A    Yes.  I requested it.



          15          Q    I'm sorry, was he holding you?



          16          A    Yes.



          17          Q    How was he holding you?



          18          A    He was sitting -- let's say -- let's say



          19   I am taking the place of Arthur -- Arthur.  My hips



          20   were here, my torso was here, my chest was against



          21   his chest and he was holding my head over here.



          22          Q    Was your head on his shoulder?



          23          A    Yes.



          24          Q    And you said that you asked him to



          25   stroke your hair?
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           1          A    Correct.



           2          Q    How did he do that?



           3          A    With his fingertips.



           4          Q    On the back of your head?



           5          A    I don't recall.



           6          Q    About how long did that last?



           7          A    Five minutes.



           8          Q    Was that comforting to you?



           9          A    Yes.



          10          Q    Explain that to me.



          11          A    Felt like I got some -- some things met



          12   that I didn't get when I was a kid.  And at the same



          13   time it was -- it was a little uncomfortable because



          14   it was -- it's something I didn't get.  It was



          15   something new.  Anything new is uncomfortable.  But



          16   I wanted it more than -- excuse me.  I wanted it



          17   more than -- I didn't want to let the fear get in



          18   the way.



          19          Q    So you felt comforted by it?



          20          A    Yes.



          21          Q    Did it feel affectionate?



          22          A    Yes.  Very much.



          23          Q    Did it feel like you were getting some



          24   one-on-one attention?



          25          A    Yes.
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           1          Q    Anything else it made you feel?



           2          A    No.



           3          Q    Safe?



           4          A    Yeah, yeah, safe.



           5          Q    Loved?



           6          A    Loved.  Vulnerable.



           7          Q    And this was something that you hadn't



           8   felt a lot of in your life?



           9          A    Correct.  At times.



          10          Q    Have you ever seen Alan Downing



          11   participating in healthy touch?



          12          A    Yes.



          13          Q    How many times do you think?



          14          A    Three.



          15          Q    Would that be one at each JIM weekend



          16   you attended?



          17          A    Yes.



          18          Q    Can you describe anything you recall



          19   about the manner in which Alan Downing engages in



          20   the healthy touch exercises?



          21          A    Well, for me, like when I did it, too.



          22   You know, I did it for some of the -- some of the



          23   guys going through the weekend.



          24          Q    The journeyers?



          25          A    Yes.  And so I recall needing a back
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           1   support.  Alan did not have back support.  Same



           2   position, chest against chest, or maybe their chest



           3   facing up and their head maybe looking up, you



           4   holding them.



           5          Q    How does the elder get matched up with



           6   the journeyer for purposes of the healthy touch



           7   exercises?



           8          A    I'm sorry.



           9          Q    For purposes of the healthy touch



          10   exercises?



          11          A    He chooses him, whoever he'd like.



          12          Q    I'm sorry, the journeyer chooses?



          13          A    The journeyer would choose.



          14          Q    How did you choose Arthur Goldberg?



          15          A    There was two men there that were



          16   available and I chose Arthur.



          17          Q    When you were a staffer, do you recall



          18   how people chose you to engage in healthy touch?



          19          A    Yeah, I had like just a connection with



          20   a guy.  I remember.  I just felt connected to him,



          21   you know, somebody like you don't really know them



          22   but yet you feel like you do know them.



          23          Q    So would you have any role at all in



          24   choosing the person you were going to do the healthy



          25   touch with or was it exclusively the journeyer who
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           1   made the decision?



           2          A    Well, if there wasn't someone available,



           3   if the other guy was taken, then, yeah, I'd have to



           4   say, well, I'm the only one available.



           5          Q    Have you stayed in touch with people



           6   you've met through these JIM weekends?  And let's



           7   focus on the first weekend.



           8          A    First weekend.  I've stayed in touch



           9   with a man, let's see, one, two, three -- at least



          10   three men.



          11          Q    Who are they?



          12          A    Do I have to name names?



          13          Q    Yeah, you do.



          14          A    Okay.  Tim Wyler, Alan Downing,



          15   there's -- from the first one, Chris Thibeaux.



          16          Q    I know you said you have occasional



          17   contact with Alan Downing?



          18          A    Right.



          19          Q    How many times a year, about?



          20          A    Once or twice.



          21          Q    Does he call you?  Do you call him?



          22          A    I usually call him.  He's pretty busy.



          23          Q    Anything in particular that causes you



          24   to want to call Alan Downing?



          25          A    Just to catch up.
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           1          Q    Who's Chris Thibeaux?



           2          A    He was on the first JIM weekend.



           3          Q    Do you know what his sexual orientation



           4   is?



           5          A    I do not.  Well, I'm not certain.



           6          Q    What makes you uncertain?



           7          A    I know he struggles.  Let me think this



           8   again.  Can you ask that question?  I think I



           9   just -- I don't think I told the truth there.  Okay.



          10   Chris Thibeaux is gay.  Yeah.  And he has a partner.



          11          Q    Thanks for the correction.



          12          A    That's all right.



          13          Q    Do you have an understanding of Alan



          14   Downing's sexual orientation?



          15          A    I mean, who knows about other people's



          16   sexual orientation?  Yeah.  A little.



          17          Q    What do you know?



          18          A    I know that he had struggled before JIM



          19   One and I don't believe that he's struggling any



          20   more.  And I think he used to act out.



          21          Q    Act out is the word for have a sexual



          22   contact with another man?



          23          A    Yes.



          24          Q    Do you think he's straight?



          25          A    Yes.
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           1          Q    Have you ever engaged in healthy touch



           2   with Alan Downing?



           3          A    I've hugged him.



           4          Q    In a manner you were just describing or



           5   as someone who's just greeting on the street?



           6          A    He held me -- I'm sorry.



           7          Q    Or just in a manner of someone on the



           8   streets saying hello?



           9          A    Oh, no, no.  He's held me, you know, at



          10   times for a couple minutes and I've done work where



          11   he's held me.  I've requested him to hold me in that



          12   fatherly hold.



          13          Q    Were those requests made in the context



          14   of JIM weekends?



          15          A    Yes.  And I've met with him -- I took a



          16   vacation and went up and stayed with his family and



          17   him, I'd say ten years ago.



          18          Q    And did you engage in hugging with him



          19   on that vacation?



          20          A    Um-hmm.



          21          Q    What kind of hugging?



          22          A    You know, just a minute hug.  Minute



          23   long hug.



          24          Q    How many times do you think on that



          25   vacation?

�



                                                                      73





           1          A    Twice.



           2          Q    Did you request that?



           3          A    Yes.



           4          Q    Was there anyone else present when you



           5   guys engaged in those minute long hugs?



           6          A    I don't think so.



           7          Q    You said that you were on a vacation



           8   with Alan and his family, correct?



           9          A    Correct.



          10          Q    Was his wife on that vacation?



          11          A    Yeah.



          12          Q    And this was his -- which wife was this?



          13   I'm sorry.



          14          A    The first one.



          15          Q    And he had kids at the time?



          16          A    Right.  They were with us.



          17          Q    Was there anyone else on that vacation



          18   other than you and his family?



          19          A    And in Philadelphia.  When we went to



          20   Philadelphia, he did hug like that in front of his



          21   family, too.  A minute long hug.  What was your



          22   question?



          23          Q    Let me just follow up on that.  I'm not



          24   certain what trip to Philadelphia you're describing.



          25   What is that?
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           1          A    Well, okay.  We went to Philadelphia for



           2   the day and, you know, he just gave me a big hug and



           3   said I'm so glad to see you and so glad you're here.



           4   We were in a market.



           5          Q    Have you ever done a clearing with Alan



           6   Downing?



           7          A    No.



           8          Q    Has he ever done a clearing with you?



           9          A    No.



          10          Q    Have you ever seen Alan Downing have to



          11   do a clearing with anyone at a JIM weekend?



          12            MR. LAFFEY:  I'm going to object as to



          13    form.



          14          A    Okay.  So the question was?



          15        Q    (By Mr. Dinielli) Have you ever seen Alan



          16   Downing do a clearing with anyone at a JIM weekend?



          17          A    No.



          18          Q    Have you ever seen Alan Downing naked?



          19          A    No.



          20          Q    Have you ever seen him partially



          21   clothed?



          22          A    Yes.



          23          Q    In what circumstances?



          24          A    With his shirt off.  His underwear.



          25          Q    Where and when?
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           1          A    We were all taking showers when we were



           2   staffing, staying in a cabin or something like that,



           3   we're walking around and getting dressed.



           4          Q    Have you ever talked with Alan about



           5   processes or other -- let me just start that over.



           6   Have you ever talked with Alan about any processes



           7   in which he's gotten naked?



           8          A    In which he's gotten naked?



           9          Q    Yes.



          10          A    No, because I've never seen him naked.



          11          Q    Right.  My question was whether you'd



          12   ever talked with him about any processes in which



          13   he's gotten naked.  Has he described anything like



          14   that to you?



          15          A    No.



          16          Q    Do you have any reason to think that



          17   Alan Downing had any sexual contact with a man



          18   during either of his marriages?



          19          A    Say that again.



          20          Q    Do you have any reason to think that



          21   Alan Downing had any sexual contact with a man



          22   during either of his marriages?



          23          A    No comment.  No.



          24          Q    I'm sorry, you said no comment?



          25          A    Yeah, no comment.  I don't understand
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           1   the question.



           2          Q    Do you think that Alan Downing, during



           3   either of his marriages, had sexual contact with a



           4   man?



           5          A    I'm not for certain.  I know earlier I



           6   said I think he had -- I think he had outside of his



           7   first marriage, but I'm not sure.  It's been like --



           8   it's been like ten years since we've talked about



           9   that kind of stuff.



          10          Q    What did he say about this?



          11          A    I don't remember.  I don't remember.



          12          Q    Is he the source of the information that



          13   makes you think that perhaps he had sex with a man



          14   during his first marriage?



          15            MR. LAFFEY:  Mischaracterizes the



          16    testimony.  Objection.



          17          A    Like I said, I don't remember the nature



          18   of the conversation.



          19        Q    (By Mr. Dinielli) But do you recall



          20   whether it was a conversation with Alan as opposed



          21   to a conversation with someone else that makes you



          22   have this inkling that perhaps he did have sex



          23   outside his marriage?



          24          A    Right.  Yes.



          25          Q    But this was probably around ten years
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           1   ago, you recall, the conversation?



           2          A    The conversation, yes.



           3          Q    Do you know Jonathan Hoffmann?



           4          A    I know the name.  I'm not the best with



           5   names.  I remember faces.



           6          Q    The name is familiar to you or no?



           7          A    Yes.



           8          Q    What do you know about him, if anything?



           9          A    I'd have to see his face.  I don't know



          10   anything about him.



          11          Q    We were speaking earlier about Rich



          12   Wyler.



          13          A    Uh-huh.



          14          Q    The first time you met him was here in



          15   St. Louis?



          16          A    Right.



          17          Q    Do you think that he is straight?



          18          A    Yes.



          19          Q    What makes you think that?



          20          A    Just the way he comes across, his



          21   conviction, his intensity.  I don't feel anything



          22   from him in any other way.  You know, I don't



          23   feel -- I think I need a break.



          24          Q    That's fine.  We can take a break.



          25            VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 12:14.  We are
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           1    off the record.  This concludes Tape 2.



           2             (Break taken.)



           3            VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 12:26 and we are



           4    back on the record.  This begins Tape 3.



           5        Q    (By Mr. Dinielli) Mr. Palmisano, we were



           6   discussing Rich Wyler before the break.  Have you



           7   ever seen him do any clearings at a JIM weekend?



           8          A    No.



           9            MR. LAFFEY:  Can we go off the record for



          10    just a second?



          11            MR. DINIELLI:  Yes.



          12            VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 12:27.  We are



          13    off the record.



          14                      (Break taken.)



          15            VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 12:27.  We're



          16    back on the record.



          17        Q    (By Mr. Dinielli) Mr. Palmisano, I



          18   understand that at JIM weekends sometimes



          19   participants and leaders are urged to engage in a



          20   technique called a clearing.  Have you ever heard of



          21   that?



          22          A    Okay.  Yes.



          23          Q    What's your understanding of what a



          24   clearing is in that context?



          25          A    If a man has a charge with another man,
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           1   meaning he has, you know, some feelings that he



           2   wants to verbalize, it's a safe setting, safe



           3   procedure where you can tell the data, judgment, and



           4   then knowing his projections.  Is that what your



           5   understanding is?



           6          Q    That's my understanding and so to



           7   clarify, when I ask that question about Mr. Wyler,



           8   using your understanding of clearing, your testimony



           9   is that you have not ever seen him do a clearing



          10   with another man at a JIM weekend?



          11          A    That's correct.



          12          Q    Has Mr. Wyler ever told you that he



          13   thinks another man is attractive?



          14          A    No.



          15          Q    Has he ever told you that he is envious



          16   of characteristics of other men?



          17          A    No.



          18          Q    And, briefly, can you describe for me



          19   any processes you've seen him lead at JIM weekends?



          20          A    The two that he showed up -- let me



          21   think here.  I don't -- I don't recall.



          22          Q    You've told me about meeting him at a



          23   restaurant here in St. Louis.



          24          A    Right.



          25          Q    And then I take it he was present at the
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           1   JIM weekend you attended as a journeyer and the two



           2   weekends you attended as a staffer?



           3          A    I don't recall if he was at the two I



           4   attended as a staffer.



           5          Q    Other than JIM weekends, have you had



           6   contact with Rich Wyler?



           7          A    I did at Journey Beyond.  And I know



           8   I've called him, but I can't remember the nature of



           9   the call, what it was about.



          10          Q    For the record, what's Journey Beyond?



          11          A    It's another weekend just like JIM.



          12          Q    Who sponsors that weekend?



          13          A    From what I know, I'm not sure.



          14          Q    When did you go on a Journey Beyond



          15   weekend?



          16          A    Man, I don't remember the year.



          17          Q    Do you think it was before or after you



          18   attended your first JIM weekend?



          19          A    It was after.



          20          Q    What do you recall about Mr. Wyler from



          21   that weekend, if anything?



          22          A    He was passionate about it.  Worked



          23   diligently.  Attentive.



          24          Q    What else?



          25          A    Well, that was the first one.  That was
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           1   the first one.  We were organizing the first one.



           2   It was ours to experience.



           3          Q    Have you ever seen Mr. Wyler naked?



           4          A    No.



           5          Q    Have you ever engaged in healthy touch



           6   with Mr. Wyler?



           7          A    Yeah.



           8          Q    What was the context?



           9          A    Hugged him.



          10          Q    Again, I'm using healthy touch in the



          11   particular way we were describing before the break,



          12   which is something more than a casual hello or



          13   good-bye hug.



          14          A    No, no healthy touch other than that.



          15   Not in your description of healthy touch, no.



          16          Q    Have you ever discussed this litigation



          17   with Mr. Wyler?



          18          A    Yes.



          19          Q    When was that?



          20          A    Couple days ago.



          21          Q    Did he call you?



          22          A    I called him.



          23          Q    What did you say?



          24          A    I said I have three attorneys calling



          25   me.  One in New Jersey, one in California.  I said,
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           1   Who are these people?  Is it all legit?  Who am I



           2   talking to?



           3          Q    What did he say?



           4          A    He said it's good, it's okay.



           5          Q    I want you to try your very best to



           6   recall specifically what he said in that



           7   conversation.



           8          A    He asked me to be truthful, that the



           9   procedures for JIM One are -- I guess you'd say have



          10   been subpoenaed and that you had them.  You know,



          11   that he hopes for the best.



          12          Q    Did he say anything else about the



          13   lawsuit?



          14          A    No.



          15          Q    Did he describe to you his deposition?



          16          A    No.



          17          Q    Did he say anything about Alan Downing's



          18   deposition?



          19          A    He did not.



          20          Q    Did he say anything about anyone else's



          21   deposition in the case so far?



          22          A    No, he did not.



          23          Q    You've staffed two JIM weekends,



          24   correct?



          25          A    Correct.
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           1          Q    How is it that you came to be a staffer



           2   on a JIM weekend?



           3          A    I applied to staff.



           4          Q    What was that process?



           5          A    Probably back then it was probably a



           6   mail-in process.  Fill out our application and send



           7   it in to People Who Can Change, I believe.



           8          Q    Before you staffed for the first time,



           9   was there any training?



          10          A    No.



          11          Q    Did you receive the script in advance of



          12   the weekend?



          13          A    Yes.



          14          Q    Were you told to study that?



          15          A    Yes.  And rules, protocols, and then



          16   signed saying that I would follow them.



          17          Q    Staffers are not permitted to have any



          18   kind of sexual contact with journeyers, correct?



          19          A    That's correct.



          20          Q    Are you aware of any instances in which



          21   anyone has broken that rule?



          22          A    No.



          23          Q    Many of the exercises at JIM weekends



          24   revolve around the story of Jack and the Beanstalk,



          25   correct?
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           1          A    Um-hmm.



           2          Q    Describe for me your understanding of



           3   that.



           4          A    I don't remember.



           5          Q    Do you know why the JIM weekends involve



           6   exercises involving the story of Jack and the



           7   Beanstalk?



           8          A    You know, if I heard it again, I'd know



           9   why.  But I don't know.  I don't remember.



          10          Q    Okay.  That's fine.  When's the last



          11   time you spoke with Arthur Goldberg?



          12          A    About seven years ago.



          13          Q    You seem kind of confident in that, what



          14   was the circumstance?



          15          A    Journey Beyond weekend he staffed with



          16   us.



          17          Q    So I take it you have not had any



          18   conversations about this litigation with



          19   Mr. Goldberg?



          20          A    No.



          21          Q    What do you know about Mr. Goldberg's



          22   credentials?



          23          A    I know that he is an attorney.



          24   That's -- and that he was writing a book.



          25   Credentials?  That's -- yeah.
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           1          Q    Do you know anything about his



           2   conviction on federal fraud charges?



           3          A    No.



           4          Q    Do you know that he spent time in jail?



           5          A    No.



           6          Q    Do you know that the American



           7   Psychotherapy Association revoked his certification



           8   in 2011?



           9          A    Can you ask that question again?



          10          Q    Do you know that the American



          11   Psychotherapy Association revoked his certification



          12   in 2011?



          13          A    No.



          14          Q    Have you ever heard him refer to himself



          15   as Dr. Goldberg?



          16          A    No.



          17          Q    Have you heard anyone else refer to him



          18   as Dr. Goldberg?



          19          A    No.  Always called him Arthur.



          20            MR. DINIELLI:  I think we're nearly done.



          21    Why don't we take a quick break and we'll come



          22    back.



          23            VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 12:38.  We are



          24    off the record.



          25             (Break taken.)
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           1            VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 12:40.  We are



           2    back on the record.



           3            MR. DINIELLI:  I have no further questions.



           4            MR. LAFFEY:  And I have no further



           5    questions.



           6            VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 12:40.  We are



           7    off the record.  This concludes today's deposition



           8    of Tony Palmisano.



           9



          10       (Ending time of the deposition: 12:40 p.m.)
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           1   STATE OF MISSOURI)

                                )SS

           2   CITY OF ST. LOUIS)



           3             I, Rebecca Brewer, Registered Professional



           4        Reporter, Certified Real-time Reporter, and



           5        Notary Public in and for the State of Missouri



           6        do hereby certify that the witness whose



           7        testimony appears in the foregoing deposition



           8        was duly sworn by me; that the testimony of the



           9        said witness was taken by me to the best of my



          10        ability and thereafter reduced to typewriting



          11        under my direction; that I am neither counsel



          12        for, related to, nor employed by any of the



          13        parties to the action in which this deposition



          14        was taken, and further that I am not relative



          15        or employee of any attorney or counsel employed



          16        by the parties thereto, nor financially or



          17        otherwise interested in the outcome of the



          18        action.



          19             ______________________ RPR, MO-CCR,



          20    Notary Public within and for the State of Missouri



          21



          22           My Commission expires April 7, 2017
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 1           IT IS HEREBY STIPULATED AND AGREED by and


 2           between counsel for Plaintiff and counsel


 3           for the Defendant that this deposition may


 4           be taken in shorthand by Rebecca Brewer,


 5           RPR, CRR, CSR, Certified Court Reporter,


 6           and Notary Public, and afterwards


 7           transcribed into typewriting;


 8                  *   *   *   *   *


 9          VIDEOGRAPHER:  This begins Videotape No. 1


10  in the deposition of Tony Palmisano in the matter


11  of Ferguson, et al. versus JONAH -- JONAH, Case


12  No. L-5473-12, before the Superior Court of Hudson


13  County, Law Division.  We are now on the record at


14  approximately 10:02 a.m. on Monday, March the


15  10th, 2014.  This deposition is taking place at


16  the Law Offices of Holloran, White, Schwartz, and


17  Gaertner.  My name is David Doell representing


18  Freedom Court Reporting.  Would counsel please


19  identify yourselves and state whom you represent?


20          MR. LAFFEY:  Mike Laffey.  I represent the


21  defendants in this action.


22          MR. DINIELLI:  David Dinielli of the


23  Southern Poverty Law Center with my colleague,


24  Scott McCoy of the Cleary Gottlieb firm for the


25  plaintiff.
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 1          VIDEOGRAPHER:  If the court reporter would
 2  please swear in the witness and we may proceed.
 3                   TONY PALMISANO,
 4           Of lawful age, produced, sworn and
 5      examined on behalf of the Defendant, deposes
 6      and says:
 7                     EXAMINATION
 8 QUESTIONS BY MR. LAFFEY:
 9        Q    Mr. Palmisano, will you state your name
10 and spell your last name for the record?
11        A    Tony Palmisano.  Last name is spelled
12 P-A-L-M-I-S-A-N-O.
13        Q    Have you ever been deposed before?
14        A    No.
15        Q    Let me give you some brief instructions
16 then.  Your testimony's sworn, so it's the same as
17 if you were giving it in court.  Because it's being
18 taken down by the court reporter, you have to
19 verbalize your answers.  Yes/no, a statement.  You
20 cannot nod, gesture with your hands, or give a
21 grunt.  I'd ask that you please wait until the
22 question is finished before you start to answer.
23 That's something everybody tends to do, but makes it
24 very difficult for the court reporter to take down
25 the testimony when we do that.  If you don't
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 1 understand a question, please let me know and I will
 2 rephrase the question so that you understand it.  If
 3 you're going to -- we don't want you to guess, but
 4 if you're going to give an estimate, please let us
 5 know that it's an estimate of time or distance or
 6 anything like that.  All right?  If you need a break
 7 at any time during the deposition, just ask and
 8 you'll get a break.
 9        A    Okay.
10        Q    You may hear objections interposed
11 during your testimony.  Just wait until the
12 objections's finished, then you can answer the
13 question.  All right?  Do you have any questions
14 before we get started?
15        A    No.
16        Q    Where do you reside?
17        A    Twenty -- here in St. Louis.
18        Q    Could you give your address, please?
19        A    2617 Melvin.
20        Q    And how old are you, sir?
21        A    50.
22        Q    Are you familiar with who the plaintiffs
23 are in this lawsuit?  Do you know their names?
24        A    I've been introduced to them, yeah.  Oh,
25 the plaintiffs?  No.
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 1        Q    Do you know Michael Ferguson?
 2        A    No.
 3        Q    Do you know Benjamin Unger?
 4        A    No.
 5        Q    You know Chaim Levin?
 6        A    Uh-uh.
 7          MR. McCOY:  Sheldon Bruck.
 8      Q    (By Mr. Laffey) Do you know Sheldon Bruck?
 9        A    No.
10          MR. LAFFEY:  Thanks for helping me out.
11      Q    (By Mr. Laffey) Do you know Arthur
12 Goldberg, one of the defendants in this action?
13        A    Yes.
14        Q    And do you know Alan Downing?
15        A    Yes.
16        Q    Do you know Elaine Berke?
17        A    No.
18        Q    How do you know Arthur Goldberg?
19        A    I have staffed a couple Journey into
20 Manhood's with him.
21        Q    How do you know Alan Downing?
22        A    Same.  I have staffed a couple with him.
23 I have also -- I was also in the first Journey into
24 Manhood with him.  He -- um-hmm.
25        Q    When did you first attend a JIM weekend?
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 1        A    I don't know the year.  Best estimate
 2 was like 2001, 2002.
 3        Q    And, well, let me ask you this:  Why did
 4 you attend a JIM weekend?
 5        A    Because I was questioning my sexuality.
 6        Q    When did that first start?
 7        A    Probably when I was about five or six.
 8        Q    And did that -- how old were you,
 9 approximately, when you attended the JIM weekend?
10        A    It would have been around 38, 39.
11        Q    Did you have questions about your
12 sexuality consistently between the ages of five or
13 six and when you first attended a JIM weekend?
14        A    Did you say consistently?
15        Q    Yes.
16        A    I'd say not consistently, no.
17        Q    Okay.  Well, describe to me what you
18 mean by questions about your sexuality.
19        A    I had -- how do I describe it?  Sorry.
20 I'm blanking out.  Likings for other men, interests
21 in other men that displayed a lot of confidence.
22 Yeah.
23        Q    Was it a sexual interest?
24        A    No.
25        Q    How would you --
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 1        A    Let me rephrase that.  It was -- it
 2 was -- it wasn't sexual, no.  It wasn't sexual.  It
 3 was -- no.
 4        Q    How would you describe it?  Can you
 5 describe it a little better for us?
 6        A    A wanting to be with them, a wanting to
 7 be like them.  I'd say it came from a low self
 8 esteem at the time.  It was when I was feeling not
 9 so good about myself.
10        Q    So you said that those feelings were
11 inconsistent between ages five and six and when you
12 attended your first JIM weekend.  Explain to me how
13 they waxed and waned over the years.
14        A    They manifest when stress was high in my
15 life due to big changes in my life.  Yeah.
16        Q    Okay.  And was there anything in
17 particular that triggered your going to a JIM
18 weekend?
19        A    Well, I had just gotten divorced and,
20 yeah, there was a man in the Mankind Project that I
21 knew and hung out with that was gay, lived the
22 lifestyle, and what was your question again?
23        Q    Well, what were the triggers that --
24 that made you want to go to the JIM weekend?
25        A    That man kept trying to encourage me or
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 1 push me to experiment, you know, to date other men.
 2 And I didn't feel like that's what I wanted to do.
 3 So the JIM weekend came up at a pretty opportune
 4 time.
 5        Q    Had you done -- prior to going to the
 6 JIM weekend, had you done anything else to address
 7 these feelings?
 8        A    Right prior to it, I was attending --
 9 what was it I attended?  I'd gone to a Lutheran -- I
10 don't know -- minister, whatever you call them.  I'm
11 not Lutheran, I'm Catholic, but I went to this
12 minister and spoke to him.  I'd also attended
13 some -- the Catholic support group for people
14 struggling with same sex attraction.  I can't
15 remember the name of it.
16        Q    Would that be Exodus?
17        A    Exodus, yeah.
18        Q    Was there anything else you did before
19 you went to a JIM weekend?
20        A    Anything else that I did before the JIM
21 weekend that led up to it, that searching?
22        Q    Yeah, that you did to address your
23 confusion that you told us about.
24        A    Not that I can recall.
25        Q    What was the Mankind Project?
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 1        A    Oh, well, that was -- that's a men's
 2 initiation support group.  It's a weekend that went
 3 on in two-thousand -- in 1997.
 4        Q    Do the weekends have a particular name?
 5        A    New Warrior Training, Mankind Project.
 6 Put on the by the Mankind Project.
 7        Q    Why did you attend that?
 8        A    Because I've always been interested in
 9 self growth and interested in relationships with men
10 other than sports and drinking, which I don't do
11 either of.
12        Q    When you say you were confused about
13 your sexuality, do you mean that you thought you
14 might be a homosexual?
15        A    I thought I might be bisexual.
16        Q    You testified you weren't sexually
17 aroused by men, correct?
18        A    That's correct.
19        Q    But even -- even though you still had
20 doubts about what your sexual orientation was?
21        A    Correct.
22        Q    You went to a Lutheran minister?
23        A    Um-hmm.
24        Q    What did he -- what did you do with him
25 to address these issues?
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 1        A    Spoke to him.  I had a lot of -- a
 2 tremendous amount of anxiety at the time.  Can't
 3 really describe in words how tremendous it was, but
 4 I tend to be OCD and hyperactive, ADD.  And so, I
 5 don't know what's that got to do with it, other than
 6 I was on panic.  I went to him -- what he said was
 7 he didn't really -- he didn't really have any
 8 answers.  He really didn't have any guidance.  He
 9 just said maybe you're doing this -- maybe you've
10 got these thoughts to rebel against your parents.
11 And, you know, nothing else really sticks out in my
12 mind other than that.
13        Q    How many times did you speak to him?
14        A    Once.
15        Q    Just once?  Do you recall about when
16 that was?
17        A    It was about a year, I'd say, before I
18 went into the Journey into Manhood where I met Alan
19 Downing.
20        Q    You testified you went to Exodus
21 meetings?
22        A    Yes.
23        Q    Was that before or after the meeting you
24 saw this Lutheran --
25        A    After the Lutheran.  I think he
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 1 suggested those meetings.
 2        Q    And what did you do at Exodus meetings?
 3        A    It was a support group.  Having --
 4 having a hard time recalling, but, you know, we just
 5 went around and just spoke about what was going on
 6 for us.
 7        Q    Now, was that before or after you did
 8 the New Warrior's training?
 9        A    That was after.
10        Q    So how did you find out about JIM
11 weekends?
12        A    At the Exodus meeting, after I've been
13 going there for probably about two months and
14 someone brought in a book, Richard Cohen's book,
15 Coming Out Straight.  I just flipped through the
16 book and there was an example of a man that had gone
17 through the New Warrior Training and struggled and
18 so I -- I contacted Richard Cohen and asked for that
19 man to call me.
20        Q    And who was that man?
21        A    It was Rich Wyler.
22        Q    And did Mr. Wyler call you?
23        A    Yeah, we talked.
24        Q    And how long was that before the JIM
25 weekend?
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 1        A    Probably about six months.
 2        Q    Okay.  And as a result of your contact
 3 with Rich Wyler, that's how you wound up attending a
 4 JIM weekend, I assume?
 5        A    Yeah, Rich called me, I don't know,
 6 three to four months later after talking to him.
 7 Let me back up.  Yeah, let me back up.  We met -- he
 8 was here on business in St. Louis and we met at a
 9 restaurant.  We talked.  And then like I'd say three
10 months -- that was like three months and then three
11 months later we had the weekend.  He called me and
12 said, Hey, I'm going to be putting on this weekend,
13 would you be interested?
14        Q    And where was the weekend held?
15        A    Somewhere east.  I don't know.  I just
16 flew in and they drove me there.  I think it was in
17 Virginia, but I'm not sure.
18        Q    So, tell me what was done at the
19 weekend.
20        A    There was guts work.  There was
21 recognizing traits that we have in ourselves and
22 other men.  There were exercises like that.  There
23 was also -- the men would walk up to who they're
24 most attracted to physically and who they most
25 trust, who they distrust the most.  Exercises like
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 1 that.
 2        Q    What's guts work?
 3        A    A way of getting feelings that are
 4 bottled up inside a person.  Somebody has a charge
 5 about something, it's a safe way to discharge
 6 energy.
 7        Q    Give me an example of some of those
 8 exercises.
 9        A    Tennis rackets, hitting pillows,
10 yelling, visceral gut sounds coming up that we may
11 have in our gut that we want to feel and get in
12 touch with.
13        Q    Did anyone tell you what to yell when
14 you were hitting your pillow?
15        A    No.  They might give some encouragement
16 saying, Yeah, yeah, do it again, hit him again, if
17 it was a role playing of one of my parents or
18 something like that.
19        Q    But nobody -- nobody told you what -- or
20 did anyone tell you what the pillow was supposed to
21 represent or tell you what to say?
22        A    I learned that all on New Warrior.
23 Yeah, that the pillow represents, you know,
24 whatever, feeling, a person, whatever.
25        Q    And nobody at the JIM weekend told you
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 1 what person or feeling the pillow should represent
 2 when you did that exercise, you decided that on your
 3 own?
 4          MR. DINIELLI:  Objection.  Leading.
 5        A    I don't recall.
 6      Q    (By Mr. Laffey) What other -- and you -- I
 7 assume you participated in that exercise?
 8        A    Yes.
 9        Q    What other exercises were there that
10 were guts work?
11        A    Man, I don't recall.  I do -- I can tell
12 you that Rich Wyler, you know, came up with a
13 protocol and that -- I don't know.  I liked it.
14        Q    Are you familiar with an exercise called
15 the gauntlet?
16        A    I'm sure I am.  I'd have to be reminded
17 of it.  I don't --
18        Q    Are you familiar with an exercise where
19 you have to break through a group of men and reach
20 balls or oranges at the other end?
21        A    Oh, yeah, um-hmm.
22        Q    Do you know what's that called?
23        A    Yeah.
24        Q    What's it's called?
25        A    Get your balls back.
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 1        Q    Okay.  What's the purpose of that
 2 exercise?  What's your understanding of the purpose
 3 of it?
 4        A    It's a psychodynamic exercise to see how
 5 much the man really wants to -- if he really wants
 6 to change what's going on in his life and it
 7 represents it in a physical way and if he really
 8 doesn't want it he's not going to push as hard.
 9        Q    And did you do that exercise?
10        A    I don't recall ever doing that exercise.
11        Q    Did you ever see that exercise before?
12        A    Oh, yeah, um-hmm.  Sorry.
13        Q    Were you given a choice of which
14 exercises you wanted to participate in?
15        A    Oh, yeah.  Whatever exercise I wanted to
16 do -- matter of fact, I wanted to do an exercise and
17 there wasn't enough time and I stepped back and let
18 another man go.  We've been friends ever since.  He
19 called me and thanked me because I felt like he
20 really needed to do it more than I did.
21        Q    So were any of the exercises mandatory?
22        A    No.  You could choose not to participate
23 if you didn't want to participate.
24        Q    Were there any exercises that involved
25 nudity?
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 1        A    No.
 2        Q    Not at this weekend?
 3        A    Not at that weekend.  In Warriors, there
 4 was, a couple.
 5        Q    Was that the only JIM weekend you ever
 6 attended?
 7        A    I staffed two other Journey into Manhood
 8 weekends.  One in New York.  One in Chicago.
 9        Q    Was there any -- were there any
10 exercises involving nudity at either one of those?
11        A    No.
12        Q    What years did you do those, if you
13 recall?
14        A    Fairly soon after I did the original
15 JIM, probably -- they were both done probably within
16 the first four years, I'd say.
17        Q    As a staff member, do you also
18 participate in the exercises yourself?
19        A    We -- we -- as we were formulating with
20 the other staff members, if we had a charge about
21 something that's going on, we would go through an
22 exercise.  I would never participate.  I would help
23 participate, you know, other -- whatever you want to
24 call them -- clients or staff members going through
25 it.  Not staff members, but help me out.  I
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 1 don't know.
 2        Q    Members.
 3        A    Members going through.  I've also
 4 staffed two Journey Beyond.
 5        Q    What was the effect of attending this
 6 JIM weekend on you?
 7        A    It helped solidify -- it helped solidify
 8 and it helped me process who I am, what do I want,
 9 and, you know, yeah.
10        Q    Did it have any effect on your confusion
11 about your sexuality?
12        A    Yeah.  I mean, it had -- it lessened --
13 the connection that I got with other men was more
14 authentic and felt real.  I felt so much more at
15 ease.  My anxiety dropped tremendously after doing
16 the first JIM and then after doing the other ones,
17 the staffing ones, I got more and more okay in my
18 masculinity and in my -- what my true desires were.
19 My true desire was to get close to men and that --
20 yeah.
21        Q    After the JIM weekend, did you engage in
22 any other therapy or activities to address your
23 confusion?
24        A    I'm sorry, can you say that again?
25        Q    After the JIM weekend --
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 1        A    Yeah.
 2        Q    Did you engage in any other therapy or
 3 activities to address your issues of confusion about
 4 your sexual identity?
 5        A    Yeah, I spoke to Alan Downing from time
 6 to time.  He was very helpful.  And I would chat
 7 with Dave -- I would chat with somebody else from
 8 the weekend.  Yeah.
 9        Q    So, just speak to the people you met at
10 the weekend?
11        A    Correct.
12        Q    You weren't in any organized support
13 groups or anything like that?
14        A    Not locally.  And no, no, it was just
15 something -- no.
16        Q    Okay.  And how is your confusion about
17 your sexual identity today?
18        A    It's like very minimal.  Very, very
19 minimal.  And there's one friend that I have, he
20 seems all perfect, he seems real perfect, he seems
21 polished, seems always to be confident.  And I have
22 some confusion sometimes with him where like I want
23 to kiss him.  Not a passionate kiss but like a
24 loving kiss, you know, and yet I don't -- I never
25 have and I don't get aroused.  So --
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 1        Q    Are you married?
 2        A    Yeah.
 3        Q    Do you have children?
 4        A    I have one child.  One daughter.  My
 5 wife has three.  My daughter -- yeah.  Go ahead.
 6        Q    Your daughter's from a different
 7 relationship?
 8        A    She's from a different relationship.
 9 She's not from the first marriage.  She's from a
10 relationship before I was married.
11        Q    And have you ever had -- if I asked you
12 this already, I apologize.  Have you ever had sex
13 with a man?
14        A    No.
15        Q    Obviously you've had sex with a woman?
16        A    Yes.
17        Q    And you have what you consider a normal
18 sexual life with your wife?
19        A    Very.  Yeah.
20        Q    So, tell me about your meeting Arthur
21 Goldberg.
22        A    Very passionate, driven man.  I know his
23 story.  I don't know what's confidential and what's
24 not about his story, but I know his story and why he
25 is so passionate about it.
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 1        Q    Well, tell us what you know about his
 2 story.
 3        A    Well, I believe that his son lives a gay
 4 lifestyle and that that's why he's so passionate
 5 about it.  Because he just wants -- he wants to help
 6 other men.  And what was I going to say?  Well, the
 7 last weekend I attended, which was probably about
 8 five or six years ago, he had not missed one weekend
 9 from what the guys were saying, which I found
10 astounding.  And just cracked me up.  I mean, he's
11 just a really likable guy.
12        Q    So he's been at all three weekends that
13 you've attended?
14        A    Oh, yeah.
15        Q    Have you had any contact with him
16 outside those meetings?
17        A    No.
18        Q    Okay.  Have you heard him speak at those
19 meetings at all?  Did he ever talk or --
20        A    Not to the group of men, no.  Talked
21 when we were amongst the staff members, yeah.
22        Q    Did you ever see him pressure or try to
23 force anybody into engaging in any of the activities
24 at the JIM weekend?
25        A    No.
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 1        Q    Did you ever hear him at the weekend
 2 refer to homosexuality as a mental illness?
 3        A    No.
 4        Q    So, tell me about what you know about
 5 Alan Downing.  How did you meet him?  At the first
 6 weekend?
 7        A    I met him at the first weekend.  Called
 8 me up, told me how much I -- he connected with me on
 9 the weekend due to my guts work, and he was just a
10 man of integrity.  He's helped me with -- I don't
11 want to say too many of my vulnerabilities, but he's
12 helped me with my vulnerabilities with my issues
13 that any man would have, or any person would have,
14 be it self esteem, and but he called me because he
15 saw me do guts work and he was touched by that and,
16 you know, we've talked ever since.  A lot at first
17 and maybe now once a year, something like that.
18        Q    All on the telephone?
19        A    Yeah, except for the times that I've
20 staffed with him.  Which I've seen him work like
21 tirelessly.  Him and another man that staffed that
22 we would -- well, we would just laugh at how many
23 exercises and what -- they were trying to figure out
24 what exercises would be the best exercises and we
25 were just like, For God's sake, just anything's
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 1 going to work.  You know, the magic's there, it's
 2 going to work.
 3        Q    Did he charge you for any of the work
 4 you did with him outside of JIM?
 5        A    No, he did not.  And when I staffed --
 6 no, I mean, they fed us and everything.  And going
 7 back to my wife, though, I mean, I have a
 8 tremendously great relationship with my wife and I
 9 mean sexually, emotionally, it's everything I
10 dreamed of.
11        Q    Does she know about your issues with
12 your sexuality?
13        A    She does, yeah.  She understands that
14 it's not -- you know, when she first met me, I told
15 her about it and it scared her.  And since then I've
16 been more and more concrete about that it's just
17 something that I desired in other men.  It's not
18 anything that's threatening to our marriage in any
19 sexual way or anything like that.  She had a hard
20 time understanding it at first.
21        Q    Why do you think you have -- had this
22 confusion?
23        A    I was physically abused by both my
24 parents, emotionally abused, and then at school, in
25 grade school, didn't feel liked, was ousted, was the
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 1 loner, was the one that everybody fought with
 2 physically and felt like I was on the outside
 3 looking in all the time, so --
 4        Q    When you say you were physically abused
 5 by your parents, was this -- did that involve any
 6 sexual abuse?
 7        A    No.
 8          MR. LAFFEY:  I think I'm just about done.
 9  Give me a minute to -- why don't we take a short
10  break.  Can we do that?
11          MR. McCOY:  Sure.
12          VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 10:37.  We are
13  off the record.
14           (Break taken.)
15          VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 10:48.  We're
16  back on the record.
17      Q    (By Mr. Laffey) Just a few more questions
18 from me.  You mentioned that you have -- have OCD?
19        A    Yes.
20        Q    Was that diagnosed by a doctor?
21        A    Yes, uh-huh.
22        Q    Psychiatrist?
23        A    Psychiatrist.
24        Q    Did you see a psychiatrist about that?
25        A    Yes.
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 1        Q    Are you on medication for it?
 2        A    Yes.  Not any more.  I'm on -- I take an
 3 antidepressant now and that takes care of the
 4 anxiety and the depression, but I was taking
 5 something also for the ADD, but that's really hard
 6 on my heart, so I stopped taking that.
 7        Q    Why did you stop taking medication for
 8 the OCD?
 9        A    Age.  Just felt like I'm getting -- just
10 feel more mellow.  Feel more confident.
11        Q    Is your OCD worse when you're under
12 stress?
13        A    Oh, God yeah.  That's when, you know,
14 yeah, when I'm unsure about myself, that I'm trying
15 to control it outside of myself by doing OCD stuff.
16 I'm pretty -- pretty stress free.
17        Q    I'm going to ask you a question and if
18 you can't answer a question, by the way, that's
19 okay.  But is there one word you would use to
20 describe your confusion or, I'm sorry, your
21 attraction to men?
22        A    One word used to describe it.  Trickery.
23        Q    Can you explain that?
24        A    It was not as it appeared.
25        Q    How did it appear?
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 1        A    Well, according to the guy that I told
 2 you about earlier that when I -- after I got
 3 divorced, that I should act on these feelings and
 4 act on, you know, and I just knew it wasn't right.
 5 I just knew it wasn't right.  And I just felt like
 6 it was a God thing that I found what I found.  I
 7 felt like I was being -- I was being led to the
 8 place to where I discovered that book.  I just felt
 9 like that was what I was supposed to do.
10        Q    But you said your attraction to men was
11 not as it seemed, that it was trickery?
12        A    Right.
13        Q    Explain.  What did it seem like that it
14 wasn't?
15        A    It seemed like that I was -- that if I
16 admired men and I saw men, what I saw in my mind was
17 trickery to me.  It was like I saw some men in times
18 of stress in my life that seemed like they had it
19 all together and I'd want to be around them and I'd
20 think to myself, maybe that means that I'm supposed
21 to be with men as well as women.  Maybe I'm
22 bisexual, you know, and so I thought -- yeah, that's
23 what I thought.
24        Q    Okay.  So when you went to your first
25 JIM weekend, did you have any goals?
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 1        A    Yeah, to -- I wanted to have it all
 2 figured out by the end of the weekend.
 3        Q    Did you have any realistic goals?
 4        A    To -- yeah, you know, I felt like I had
 5 support.  I knew I had support before I went.  That
 6 was my goal; to have support and have some sort of
 7 sense of community, even though it wasn't local.
 8 I've just always kind of trusted in the process.
 9        Q    So did you -- did you partially or fully
10 reach your goals?
11        A    Oh, yeah.  Oh, God yeah.  I've
12 superseded my goals.
13        Q    I'm just talking about after the first
14 weekend.
15        A    No.  Yeah, I'd say so.  Yeah, yeah.
16        Q    Okay.  Partially or fully?
17        A    Fully.
18          MR. LAFFEY:  Okay.  I don't have any other
19  questions.
20          MR. DINIELLI:  Thank you.  I'm happy to
21  just jump right in, if that makes sense for you.
22          MR. LAFFEY:  Yes, it does.
23                     EXAMINATION
24 BY MR. DINIELLI:
25        Q    Mr. Palmisano, my name's Dave Dinielli
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 1 and I'll be asking you some questions today as well.
 2 Thank you for your patience with the process.  Can
 3 you tell me how you came to be a witness in this
 4 case?
 5        A    Trying to remember who called me.  I
 6 think it was Alan.  I think Alan called me and asked
 7 me if I would do this.
 8        Q    Are you fairly certain of that or is it
 9 a hazy memory at this point?
10        A    I'm fairly certain of that.
11        Q    Can you recall anything about what he
12 said?
13        A    He said he'd appreciate if I would -- if
14 I would do this deposition for him, that he feels
15 like -- that's about it, really.
16        Q    Mr. Downing's a pretty important person
17 to you in your life, correct?
18        A    At times.
19        Q    You indicated that he had reached out to
20 you after a JIM weekend?
21        A    Right.
22        Q    To connect?
23        A    Um-hmm.
24        Q    And you've indicated that he told you
25 that he was particularly impressed with your gut
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 1 work?
 2        A    Yeah.
 3        Q    Guts work?
 4        A    Yeah.  Yeah.
 5        Q    And that he felt a connection to you as
 6 a result of that guts work?
 7        A    Correct.
 8        Q    What was that like for you to receive
 9 that phone call and get that praise?
10        A    It was affirmative.  Felt supported from
11 another man.
12        Q    Anything else?
13        A    No.
14        Q    Is that something that you feel has been
15 lacking in your life up until your experience with
16 the JIM weekends and other efforts; to feel
17 supported by other men?
18        A    To feel supported, is that what you
19 said?
20        Q    Yes.
21        A    Yes.
22        Q    In a bit I'm going to ask you a little
23 bit about your childhood.  You indicated there were
24 some difficulties and we'll get to that.  I'll try
25 to explore that with you.  But I want to confirm for
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 1 now that you've never been to JONAH's offices in New
 2 Jersey, correct?
 3        A    No, I have not.
 4        Q    Were you ever a client in any way of
 5 JONAH?
 6        A    Not of JONAH.
 7        Q    You went to JIM weekends not because of
 8 anything that JONAH did, correct?
 9        A    Correct.
10        Q    And you indicated that you have stayed
11 in touch with Mr. Downing subsequent to your first
12 JIM weekend?
13        A    Right.
14        Q    You never employed him as a life coach
15 or a counselor, did you?
16        A    No.
17        Q    So you've never paid any money to him
18 for any --
19        A    Correct.  I'm sorry.
20        Q    We're talking -- I'm sorry, too.  We're
21 talking over each other.  But let me just finish the
22 question.  You've never paid any money to him
23 separate and apart from anything you may have paid
24 to go to your first JIM weekend?
25        A    That's right.







Tony Palmisano 9


Freedom Court Reporting, Inc 877-373-3660


Page 33
 1        Q    Can you tell me where you grew up?
 2        A    Here in St. Louis.
 3        Q    Describe your childhood for me, if you
 4 can.
 5        A    Raised Catholic, city kid, moved to the
 6 mid county in my teenage years, or to the county,
 7 teenage years, loner and loved bicycling, loved
 8 football, didn't play professionally, dad didn't
 9 want me to get hurt, but played a lot on the
10 weekends without any pads or anything, so I probably
11 got hurt even worse, so --
12        Q    Tell me about your Catholic upbringing.
13        A    It was strict upbringing.  Went to all
14 the saint days, went to church on all the days even
15 during the week, and went to school, parochial
16 school, until sixth grade.
17        Q    Was church important to you when you
18 were young?
19        A    Yeah.  Yes and no.  I mean, yeah, it
20 was.  And then it was one of those things where as
21 humans we think where's God when I need him -- when
22 I need him?
23        Q    What were the circumstances in which you
24 questioned where God was?
25        A    Just feeling so lonely a lot, you know,
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 1 just --
 2        Q    What was the school work like for you?
 3 Did that come easily or was that difficult?
 4        A    Difficult.
 5        Q    Were you ever diagnosed with a learning
 6 disability?
 7        A    Yes.
 8        Q    What was that?
 9        A    That things that were said to me, unless
10 I saw the picture, I didn't understand it.  I don't
11 know what --
12        Q    So regular grade school classes were
13 difficult for you?
14        A    Math was difficult as a kid.  Not any
15 more, but math was difficult.  English.  I liked the
16 sciences.  And wasn't too bad in science.
17        Q    You said earlier that both of your
18 parents abused you.
19        A    Um-hmm.
20        Q    Can you describe that a little bit more
21 for me, please?
22        A    In detail?  Or I don't know.
23        Q    I don't need to go into all the details,
24 but why don't we just stick with your mom and
25 describe for me what was it about her and what she
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 1 did to you that caused you to say that she abused
 2 you.
 3        A    Hitting with her hands, you know, wait
 4 until dad gets home, one of those things.
 5        Q    Was she patient or impatient about some
 6 of the problems you had at school?
 7        A    She was pretty patient.  She really
 8 tried to help.
 9        Q    How about your dad?
10        A    Was not patient with the school stuff.
11 Wasn't really there for that.  Wasn't involved with
12 my sports stuff.  He -- you know, he provided.  He
13 was gone a lot, worked a lot of overtime, and got
14 some beatings, you know, I don't know what to say.
15 You know.
16        Q    What kind of job did he have?
17        A    He was a meat cutter.
18        Q    Did your mom work?
19        A    No.
20        Q    So the neighborhood you grew up in,
21 would you describe it as blue collar?  How would you
22 describe it?
23        A    Oh, yeah, blue collar.  In my teenage
24 years, it wasn't -- I'd say it was blue and white
25 collar.
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 1        Q    Do you have siblings?
 2        A    Two.
 3        Q    Older, younger, brothers, sisters?
 4        A    Younger, brothers.
 5        Q    Were they a lot younger, somewhat
 6 younger, how much younger?
 7        A    Seven years and two years younger.
 8        Q    Did you get along with them?
 9        A    Um-hmm, yes.
10        Q    You said a few times that when you were
11 young you felt lonely a lot of the time?
12        A    Um-hmm.
13        Q    Thinking back during your childhood, did
14 you have any people that you think of now as close
15 friends?
16        A    No, I don't hang out with any of them.
17        Q    Maybe my question wasn't clear.
18 Thinking now about that time, can you think of
19 anyone who at that time was a close friend?
20        A    Yes.
21        Q    Okay.  Who were they?
22        A    A friend in school, through -- I'd say I
23 had like one friend that was a really good friend
24 down through the grade school.  And then two through
25 junior high and high school.
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 1        Q    So, help me out here a little bit
 2 because it sounds like you got along okay with your
 3 brothers and you had at least one friend.
 4        A    Um-hmm.
 5        Q    Help me understand how it was that you
 6 felt like such a loner at that time in your life.
 7        A    Well, when I look at Facebook nowadays
 8 and I see my nephew on there, he has about 10 or 15
 9 kids gather around him from his school.  It's a lot
10 different than what I had.
11        Q    So you just didn't have a lot of
12 friends?
13        A    Correct.  I had friends that had same
14 sort of similarities that I had in my consciousness.
15        Q    What do you mean by that?
16        A    Well, they thought the same way and they
17 were probably going through the same sort of issues.
18        Q    Loneliness?
19        A    Probably.
20        Q    Anything else?
21        A    No.
22        Q    Earlier you also said that you think you
23 started having some confusion about your sexuality
24 early as five or six?
25        A    Correct.
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 1        Q    Describe for me what that was like.
 2        A    Confusing.  I wanted to be around the
 3 guy, had crushes on girls at school, even at that
 4 age, neighborhood girl down the street.
 5        Q    But you felt a lot of envy or jealousy
 6 towards other guys?
 7        A    Some.
 8        Q    What else did you feel?
 9        A    Jealousy and envy.  I don't -- I don't
10 think there was anything else.
11        Q    Can you think of a particular instance
12 when you were young where you really felt this
13 jealousy or envy towards a particular boy?
14        A    Yes.
15        Q    What do you remember?
16        A    I remember wanting to hang out with him.
17 I remember wanting to have -- he had a lot of
18 friends, like I mentioned earlier about my nephew.
19 And they all followed him around, so, like I said, I
20 was jealous and envious of him.
21        Q    You don't recall that being a sexual
22 envy or sexual response?
23        A    No.
24        Q    Were you bullied at all when you were
25 young?
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 1        A    Yeah.
 2        Q    What happened to you?
 3        A    Well, the -- it was kind of like a mob
 4 mentality, I guess you'd say.
 5        Q    What does that mean?
 6        A    Where they'd all gather around and one
 7 would push and then I'd turn around and then another
 8 one would push me from the back so that I couldn't
 9 see who was pushing me.
10        Q    Wow.
11        A    Um-hmm.
12        Q    That must have been pretty bad.
13        A    Pretty bad, yeah.
14        Q    Did you do anything about it?
15        A    What are you going to do?  You can't
16 tell the teachers.  They didn't have -- they didn't
17 know what to do back then.  They don't handle it
18 like they do today.  And mom and dad couldn't handle
19 it.  They're at home.
20        Q    Did you tell your mom and dad?
21        A    I don't -- I don't recall.
22        Q    So that sounds as if that was a pretty
23 lonely experience.
24        A    Correct.  Yeah.
25          MR. DINIELLI:  We've got to change the tape
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 1  so why don't we do that now.
 2          VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 11:08.  We are
 3  off the record.  This conclude Tape 1.
 4           (Break taken.)
 5          VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 11:17 and we are
 6  back on the record.  This begins Tape 2.
 7      Q    (By Mr. Dinielli) Welcome back,
 8 Mr. Palmisano.  We just took a break but you'll
 9 remain under oath and any subsequent breaks we take,
10 you'll remain under oath.  I just want to make
11 certain that you understand that.
12        A    Sure.  Um-hmm.
13        Q    When you were growing up, did you have
14 any sports or celebrity heros, people you looked up
15 to in that regard?
16        A    A couple, you know, I kind of knew of
17 but I didn't really like study them or you know what
18 I'm saying?  A couple hockey guys.
19        Q    Do you remember who they were?
20        A    Bobby Orr.  And I don't even remember
21 any others.  That was one of them.
22        Q    Anyone else you can think of?
23        A    No.
24        Q    Okay.  Just kind of moving forward a
25 little bit in your life now.  We were talking about
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 1 your early childhood.  Let's jump forward to high
 2 school.  Where did you go to high school?
 3        A    Lafayette High School.
 4        Q    That's here in St. Louis?
 5        A    Yes.
 6        Q    Describe that high school for me.
 7        A    I think the graduating class was around
 8 500.  What do you mean?  What -- describe what about
 9 it?
10        Q    What were the kids like at that high
11 school?
12        A    They had their cliques and they still
13 have their cliques.  I just want to a reunion and
14 they still got their cliques.  And they're like a
15 bunch of teenagers, still.  So -- just like when
16 people say -- it's like this town says what school
17 did you grow up in.  My wife grew up in California
18 here and she said it's crazy, it's like a movie.
19 It's like which high school did you go to, who says
20 that?
21        Q    Was high school any easier for you than
22 your earlier school years?
23        A    It was easier, yeah.
24        Q    In what way?
25        A    Coming to my own of, you know, just -- I
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 1 had -- I had more friends that I'd hang with
 2 bicycling.  And I had my cousin that I could, you
 3 know, drive to his house and so I had a couple more
 4 friends.
 5        Q    Earlier today you described what we've
 6 been calling your sexual confusion.
 7        A    Um-hmm.
 8        Q    And just to be clear, you've never
 9 considered yourself to be gay, correct?
10        A    Correct.
11        Q    But you've been confused at times about
12 whether you might be bisexual?
13        A    Correct.
14        Q    Did you have any of this confusion while
15 you were in high school?
16        A    Yes.
17        Q    Tell me what the circumstances were.
18        A    You know, still -- still not getting
19 along with my father and my mom.  That's where I was
20 diagnosed with the learning disability stuff, which
21 I think it was all just stress.  And there were
22 certain athletes that I was jealous of, you know,
23 they had -- they had the guys coming up to them and
24 talking to them and they had the women attracted to
25 them and I wanted both, so --
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 1        Q    You wanted to be as popular as they
 2 were?
 3        A    Yeah.  Um-hmm.  I wanted to be liked.  I
 4 wanted to be popular.  I wanted to be in their
 5 clique.
 6        Q    Were you in any clique?
 7        A    No.
 8        Q    Were you in any activities or clubs or
 9 sports?
10        A    I played soccer when I was -- but that
11 was way back when.  And I quit.  Didn't even follow
12 through.  No, we were not in any -- I was not in any
13 club sports, anything like that.
14        Q    You've indicated that there have been
15 times when you've had low self esteem.
16        A    Um-hmm.
17        Q    Did you ever experience that in high
18 school at times?
19        A    Yes.
20        Q    What were the circumstances in which
21 you'd feel low self esteem?
22        A    Well, like I said, I guess -- I think it
23 was not -- you know, I wasn't -- I was a C student.
24 You know, I'd try as much as I could to get better
25 grades and I couldn't get better grades.  I was
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 1 better with my hands than I was in my head because I
 2 took shop courses, but just didn't feel like -- just
 3 didn't feel like I could connect to other people in
 4 class, you know, I just -- just didn't have whatever
 5 they had is what I told myself at the time.
 6        Q    Did you go to prom?
 7        A    No.
 8        Q    At your high school, were there any kids
 9 that you knew to be gay?
10        A    I knew of some guys that I suspected
11 were gay.
12        Q    But they weren't open about it?
13        A    No.
14        Q    Were they treated any differently than
15 other kids?
16        A    I was not that close to them to even
17 know.  I seen them, you know, it was a pretty big
18 school.  I seen them walking here and there.  They
19 seemed pretty popular.
20        Q    Did you have any reaction to your own
21 suspicion that these other kids might be gay?
22        A    I think -- I'd say I was a little
23 homophobic.
24        Q    What do you mean by that?
25        A    I think I was afraid.  I mean, just -- I
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 1 was afraid of that they would want something or
 2 something, you know, if I became friends with them
 3 or talked to them or whatever.  Something I
 4 didn't -- I did not want to go there.
 5          MR. DINIELLI:  We're going to go off the
 6  record for just a second, please.
 7          VIDEOGRAPHER:  Time is 11:24.  We are off
 8  the record.
 9           (Break taken.)
10          VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 11:26.  We are
11  back on the record.
12      Q    (By Mr. Dinielli) Mr. Palmisano, before
13 our break, we were talking about your high school
14 experiences.  Did you have sexual attractions to
15 girls during high school?
16        A    Yes.
17        Q    On a scale of, say, zero to ten, ten
18 being the strongest, how would you describe the
19 strength of your sexual attraction to girls during
20 high school?
21        A    Ten.
22        Q    Did you have a girlfriend at any time in
23 high school?
24        A    Yeah, she wasn't at the school, though.
25        Q    Okay.  And tell me about that
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 1 relationship.
 2        A    We did what couples do.  We'd go down to
 3 the park.  There's a county park.  We'd go down
 4 there after -- she was -- I met her at work, you
 5 know, we'd go down to the county park.  Dated a
 6 couple girls from that place where I worked and, you
 7 know, lasted months.
 8        Q    How old were you when you first had sex
 9 with a woman?
10        A    19.
11        Q    Was it during high school, after high
12 school?
13        A    After.
14        Q    Did that feel natural to you?
15        A    Yes.
16        Q    Do you recall when you graduated from
17 high school?
18        A    1982.
19        Q    What did you do after that?
20        A    I went to a trade school, studied HVAC.
21 I went to the community college before I went to the
22 trade school, actually, for about a year.  And then
23 went to the trade school, had a full-time job, went
24 back to the community college and studied for the
25 next ten years just learning stuff.
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 1        Q    I want to jump forward now and ask if
 2 you're employed now.
 3        A    Yes.
 4        Q    What do you do?
 5        A    I do service work for a gas company
 6 here.
 7        Q    How long have you done that?
 8        A    Twenty -- almost 27 years.
 9        Q    What's your title now?
10        A    I'm a fitter.
11        Q    27 years, you should be able to retire
12 pretty soon.
13        A    True.
14        Q    And how old are you now?
15        A    50.
16        Q    So you've been at the gas company since
17 you were around 23?
18        A    Correct.  23.
19        Q    I don't need to know every single thing
20 you've done in the last 27 years with the gas
21 company, but if you could sketch out your trajectory
22 there; what you started doing, what you wound up
23 doing, how you got there.
24        A    Well, I've been doing that ever since
25 I've been doing -- I do -- I was doing diagnosing
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 1 leaks, house inspections, I had to go to people's
 2 residences and some commercial jobs, find leaks,
 3 repair them, work with construction crews in
 4 emergency type situations, sometimes.
 5        Q    You indicated that you have one
 6 daughter?
 7        A    Right.
 8        Q    How old were you when she was born?
 9        A    Well, she's going to be 30.  I was 20.
10        Q    Were you dating her mom at the time?
11        A    Right.
12        Q    How long did you date her mom?
13        A    It was an off and on thing.  Two and a
14 half years.
15        Q    Describe your sexual life with her.
16        A    It was wonderful.  Felt natural.  It was
17 wonderful.
18        Q    At some point that relationship ended?
19        A    Correct.
20        Q    And at some point you got married for
21 the first time?
22        A    Right.  I think I got married -- it was
23 '93, so my daughter was nine then.  No, wait a
24 minute.  My daughter was '84 -- she was born in '84,
25 so --
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 1        Q    How long did that marriage last?
 2        A    Seven years.
 3        Q    Again, earlier today you said that when
 4 that marriage was ending you were feeling a lot of
 5 stress?
 6        A    Correct.
 7        Q    What were the issues in that marriage?
 8        A    Well, I felt at the time like she was my
 9 best friend and yet she -- ever since -- ever since
10 day one she had issues with -- I don't know.  You
11 know, I don't know how much to say here because I
12 think that's her privacy, but I'll say that she was
13 depressed most of the time.  I would go to family
14 functions and out in public and I'd be alone.  And
15 she was depressed and it got worse and worse over
16 time.
17        Q    Let me put it this way, because I don't
18 need to intrude too deeply into that.  Were there
19 any issues in that marriage relating in any way to
20 your sexual confusion?
21        A    No.
22        Q    And can you describe your sex life with
23 her?
24        A    Well, that's what I was trying to avoid.
25 I mean, I was fine.  She was not.
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 1        Q    This was a source of stress for you?
 2        A    Oh, yeah.
 3        Q    And did this stress in any way cause or
 4 contribute to any confusion that you were feeling
 5 about your sexuality?
 6        A    I'd say it was more that I wanted to
 7 have an affair but I didn't.  I didn't want to -- I
 8 just, you know, I just have too much integrity.  I
 9 didn't want to do that to her or I just, you know, I
10 was sworn.  I did not want to dishonor some oath
11 that I had to her.
12        Q    Just to be clear --
13        A    In a heterosexual way, I did not want to
14 have another affair with another woman.  So --
15        Q    About when did that marriage end?
16        A    About 1999.
17        Q    And then in terms of your personal life,
18 what happened after that marriage ended?
19        A    I was on my own in a house.
20        Q    Did you have custody of your daughter at
21 any time?
22        A    No.  Never.
23        Q    Not even shared custody?
24        A    I had her on the weekends and I had her
25 on one night of the weekend and during the week and
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 1 she moved to Colorado when she was ten.  Her mom got
 2 married to some guy in Colorado.
 3        Q    Okay.  So back to -- we were describing
 4 your personal life after your marriage ended in 1999
 5 and you said you were on your own in your own house.
 6 What happened next in terms of your intimate life,
 7 your relationships?
 8        A    Well, I had gone through the New Warrior
 9 experience, so I had some really good friends at the
10 time, I felt.  And I would go out to eat quite a bit
11 to mingle, get support, and -- yeah, worked around
12 the house, you know.
13        Q    Okay.  Tell me when you got married a
14 second time.
15        A    That was in 2007.
16        Q    Okay.  We'll get to that a little bit
17 later, but what I'd really like to do is see if we
18 can pin down the timeline of some of the things that
19 you told us you've done in connection with your
20 confusion, including New Warrior, including JIM
21 weekend, including talking to a Lutheran minister.
22 So, best as you can recall, if you got divorced in
23 1999, correct?  What was the first thing you did to
24 help you address your sense of confusion about
25 yourself?
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 1        A    You know, I sought -- you know, I had
 2 friends with the New Warriors, like I said, and I
 3 also had this other friend at the time that lived
 4 the lifestyle, like I said, and I tried to get
 5 counsel through him, but I didn't feel like it was
 6 unbiased.
 7        Q    Okay.  I'm trying to figure out when you
 8 went to New Warriors.  Was that before or after your
 9 first marriage ended?
10        A    It was before.
11        Q    And remind me why it is that you went to
12 New Warriors.
13        A    Because I wanted a connection with other
14 men.
15        Q    I'm sorry, go ahead.
16        A    In a way that -- in a way that was
17 talking about something other than sports or
18 drinking.
19        Q    And how did you learn about New
20 Warriors?
21        A    From a chiropractor that I was going to.
22 He had fliers there.
23        Q    How many times did you go to New
24 Warriors?
25        A    How many times did I go to it?  Well,
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 1 you go through one weekend and then I staffed two
 2 after that.
 3        Q    You went to the weekend during your
 4 marriage.  Do you know if you staffed the two
 5 weekends during or after your marriage?
 6        A    The first one I staffed was in 1998.
 7 And the next one was after my marriage.
 8        Q    Okay.  And then it was through New
 9 Warriors that you met this person that you've
10 described before as someone who was living in a gay
11 lifestyle?
12        A    Correct.
13        Q    Where did he live?
14        A    Here in St. Louis.
15        Q    Describe for me the kind of things you
16 guys would do together.
17        A    We'd go to the zoo, go to the art
18 museum, we'd go to Botanical Garden.  His daughter
19 and my daughter were close to the same age so we'd
20 get together once in a while but, you know, they're
21 more like teenagers then, so -- and that was when my
22 daughter was visiting, so it was like short things,
23 so --
24        Q    And, to be clear, had he been a
25 participant in a New Warriors weekend or had he also
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 1 been a staff member?  What was the connection
 2 through New Warriors?
 3        A    He had been a participant.
 4        Q    While you were staffing or while you
 5 were a participant?
 6        A    While I was staffing.
 7        Q    How did it happen that you guys stayed
 8 in touch after the New Warriors weekend?
 9        A    I don't know.
10        Q    You told me that he was urging you to
11 act on some of your feelings?
12        A    Correct.
13        Q    What was that about?
14        A    What was it about?
15        Q    Yeah, tell me what he was saying.
16        A    You should try dating this guy or that
17 guy or that guy.
18        Q    Did you have any attraction towards him?
19        A    No.
20        Q    How did you respond when he would say
21 those things to you?
22        A    Kind of in a people pleasing way, where
23 I'd say, Oh, no, you know.
24        Q    What was it about him that caused you to
25 want to stay in touch with him?


Page 55
 1        A    He had -- he had a lot of genuineness
 2 about him.
 3        Q    He listened to you?
 4        A    Yeah.
 5        Q    He paid attention to you?
 6        A    Yeah.
 7        Q    He was a nice guy?
 8        A    Right.
 9          MR. LAFFEY:  Objection.  Leading.
10          MR. DINIELLI:  This is cross.
11          MR. LAFFEY:  You're right.  I'm sorry.
12  Coffee's wearing off.
13      Q    (By Mr. Dinielli) Did you stay in touch
14 with other people from New Warriors in addition to
15 him?
16        A    Yes.
17        Q    How many?
18        A    Two or three.
19        Q    But your connection with this individual
20 we've been discussing, was that the strongest of
21 your connections?
22        A    I'd say it matched -- equally matched
23 another prime one I hang out with still to today.
24        Q    Was this other person someone who lives
25 the gay lifestyle?
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 1        A    No.
 2        Q    So the record is clear, New Warriors is
 3 not designed specifically for men who have struggled
 4 with same sex attraction, correct?
 5        A    That's correct.
 6        Q    So, this close friend of yours was
 7 encouraging you to try to date men?
 8        A    Correct.
 9        Q    Correct?  What effect did that have on
10 you?
11        A    Would raise the anxiety even more.
12        Q    How?
13        A    Well, as I said earlier, I have, you
14 know, I've had some OCD and stuff and -- can you ask
15 the question again?  How did it what?
16        Q    How did it raise your anxiety?
17        A    Just felt like it wasn't something that
18 I wanted at a soul level.  It wasn't something that
19 I wanted and that I needed.
20        Q    Were you concerned about letting your
21 friend know -- I'm sorry.
22        A    I'm sorry.  And yet I just want to say
23 and yet, you know, the culture here, to me, was
24 like, well, if you feel it, then you do it and then
25 I'm like I felt like a wolf going out on my own path
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 1 trying to figure out who I was and what I was doing.
 2 I'm like I'm not following what everybody else says
 3 because it doesn't feel like that.  Thank you.
 4        Q    Did you finally tell your friend that
 5 you weren't going to take his advice?
 6        A    Yeah.
 7        Q    Tell me about that conversation.
 8        A    Well, I cut it off with him, too, you
 9 know, and he was pretty deeply hurt and, you know,
10 told me I was the only heterosexual friend that he
11 had and so --
12        Q    You indicated that at some point you
13 spoke with a Lutheran minister?
14        A    Right.
15        Q    When was that in connection with these
16 incidents?
17        A    That was after New Warriors.  It was
18 before JIM.
19        Q    Around the time that you were friendly
20 with this gentleman from New Warriors?
21        A    Yeah.
22        Q    And did your experiences with your
23 friends urging you to date men contribute to your --
24 contribute to your desire to want to talk to this
25 Lutheran minister?
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 1        A    Right.  It did.
 2        Q    And so, again, we're trying to establish
 3 the timeline.  The talk with a Lutheran minister, to
 4 your best recollection, occurred before or after you
 5 cut things off with your friend from New Warriors?
 6        A    Before I cut it off.
 7        Q    So, again, walking through the timeline,
 8 we've talked about your weekend and then your
 9 staffing a New Warriors.  We've talked about your
10 continuing connection with one person in particular
11 here in St. Louis.  Sometime during the time at
12 which you were communicating with him you had the
13 conversation with a Lutheran minister and then at
14 some point you cut off the relationship with the
15 friend from New Warriors?
16        A    Right.
17        Q    Did the minister in any way encourage
18 you to cut off your relationship with your friend?
19        A    No.
20        Q    And remind me again what the minister
21 told you.  I'm sorry.  You testified to that but I'd
22 like to hear it again.
23        A    The minister -- the only thing I recall
24 him saying is -- well, two things.  One was the
25 support groups, Exodus, and there was a number of
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 1 other ones.  He gave me a sheet, some sort of flier,
 2 I guess.  That's my guess.  But he did say maybe I'm
 3 trying to -- maybe I'm doing this in order to rebel
 4 against my parents.
 5        Q    Did that sound right to you at all?
 6        A    No.
 7        Q    Earlier you testified that you had been
 8 to some support groups with Exodus.
 9        A    Correct.
10        Q    Correct?  I know there's another group
11 called Courage.  Do you know what that is?
12        A    I've heard of them.
13        Q    Did you ever go to any support groups
14 with the organization called Courage?
15        A    Who are they affiliated with?
16        Q    Well, I'm not testifying, but I will
17 represent that I understand they're affiliated with
18 the Catholic church.
19        A    Oh.  I don't think so.
20        Q    Okay.  The support groups you went to
21 that were organized by Exodus, these were after your
22 conversation with the Lutheran minister?
23        A    I blanked out.  Sorry.
24        Q    You went to Exodus?
25        A    Yeah.
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 1        Q    Support groups after you talked to the
 2 Lutheran minister?
 3        A    Correct.
 4        Q    That's because Exodus was one of the
 5 resources that the Lutheran minister had suggested
 6 you explore?
 7        A    Correct.
 8        Q    How long did you go to support groups at
 9 Exodus?
10        A    About two -- two to three months.
11        Q    What sort of people were attending those
12 support groups?
13        A    People that had struggled with same sex
14 attraction.  Men and women.
15        Q    Did those people seem as if they were
16 like you or dissimilar to you?
17        A    They felt like they were like me in some
18 ways, yeah.
19        Q    What were the ways in which you felt
20 like they were like you?
21        A    It was like -- it was more of a feeling
22 that they were like me.  These are questions I've
23 never really thought about, I guess.
24        Q    That's okay.  And you can take your
25 time.
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 1        A    Yeah, so -- question again?
 2        Q    We were talking about the people that
 3 you went to support groups with at Exodus.  And I
 4 was asking in what way did you feel like them.  And
 5 I'm going to ask in what ways did you feel not like
 6 them?
 7        A    Well, they -- they had -- they had
 8 significant others, had been in relationships, let's
 9 say, they'd struggled.  There's all kind of
10 different levels and I felt like some of those
11 people in those levels.
12        Q    What did you do after Exodus?
13        A    I stopped going to Exodus once I did the
14 Journey into Manhood.  It felt like a better support
15 group, much more.
16        Q    And remind me how you found out about
17 Journey into Manhood.
18        A    From Exodus.  Somebody brought a book
19 in.
20        Q    That was the Richard Cohen book?
21        A    Yes.
22        Q    And just so the timeline is complete,
23 you at some point reached out to Rich Wyler?
24        A    Correct.
25        Q    And at some point Rich Wyler met with
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 1 you here in St. Louis?
 2        A    Correct.
 3        Q    Do you remember where that was?
 4        A    I think it was at Tony's Restaurant in
 5 the city here.
 6        Q    You met for a meal?
 7        A    Yes.
 8        Q    You don't recall who paid for that, do
 9 you?
10        A    I didn't.  He ate.  It was late.  I
11 already ate dinner.
12        Q    So I would hope that he paid.
13        A    Yes, I would hope he paid.
14        Q    And that was several months before you
15 attended your first JIM weekend?
16        A    Yes.
17        Q    Did Mr. Wyler reach out to you at all
18 again after visiting here in St. Louis?
19        A    No.
20        Q    You of course saw him at JIM weekends?
21        A    Correct.
22        Q    You said that you think that your first
23 JIM weekend was somewhere in Virginia?
24        A    Correct.
25        Q    So you flew there?
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 1        A    Right.
 2        Q    Were you picked up at the airport?
 3        A    Yes.  They had like a minivan or
 4 something like that.  Somebody rented a van, took us
 5 all.
 6        Q    What were your -- what were your hopes
 7 for that weekend?
 8        A    My hopes I think I said before, were to
 9 get connected to other men and just have some sort
10 of support.  Someone to talk to about this, about
11 what was going on for me.
12        Q    Do you remember whether you were nervous
13 or apprehensive in that van going off to this
14 weekend for the first time?
15        A    No, I was not nervous.  I was -- well,
16 you know, probably was a little nervous, you know,
17 just a little bit, but more hopeful.
18        Q    There were other men in this van?
19        A    Yes.
20        Q    Did you guys talk about what was coming
21 up or was it a quiet ride?
22        A    Yeah, we talked about what was coming
23 up.
24        Q    Do you remember any of the people who
25 were in that van?
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 1        A    Not a soul.
 2        Q    And at some point you arrived at the
 3 facility where the weekend was going to occur?
 4        A    Right.
 5        Q    What do you remember about your arrival
 6 and getting there and being greeted for the first
 7 time?
 8        A    I remember walking up -- well, the
 9 protocol is -- for JIM was -- I remember men asking
10 me why I was there, what my intentions were.
11        Q    That happens as soon as you arrive,
12 doesn't it?
13        A    Yes, it did.
14        Q    And that question was posed by staffers,
15 isn't it?
16        A    Correct.
17        Q    What did you say, if anything?
18        A    To heal myself.
19        Q    You've talked earlier about some of
20 the -- what's called guts work.
21        A    Yes.
22        Q    I want to ask about something called
23 healthy touch.  Do you know what that is?
24        A    Yes.
25        Q    What's your understanding of that?
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 1        A    I'm trying to think.  There's -- healthy
 2 touch, that's an exercise, you're saying?
 3        Q    I understand from looking at the script
 4 for the weekend and from other testimony in this
 5 case so far that some of the exercises involve
 6 holding or hugging one another.
 7        A    Yes.  Elders.  That's what I was talking
 8 about.  Where an older or elder will hold another
 9 man and act as his dad.  It's a nurturing exercise.
10        Q    You said that the elders will act as
11 dads?
12        A    They can take that -- yes.  If -- if
13 that's -- if that's what the client needs.  Whatever
14 he needs, you know, if -- that was for me.  I wanted
15 to hear something.  I can tell you that.  I wanted
16 to hear somebody tell me things that I wish my dad
17 would have said.
18        Q    So, did you do this exercise, I'll just
19 call it healthy touch if that's okay with you,
20 during your first JIM weekend?
21        A    Yes.
22        Q    Do you recall telling someone that you
23 did, in fact, want the touch of an older person to
24 meet a need, maybe you felt because your dad was
25 absent?
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 1        A    I recall asking him to stroke my hair.
 2        Q    Do you remember who the elder was who
 3 did that?
 4        A    I think it was Arthur.  Arthur Goldberg.
 5        Q    Did he say anything about the golden
 6 father energy in this exercise?
 7        A    Yes.
 8        Q    What do you recall?
 9        A    I remember him telling me that he's here
10 for me and that -- telling me good things about
11 myself and -- yeah.
12        Q    Was Mr. Goldberg in physical contact
13 with you when he was saying those things?
14        A    Yes.  I requested it.
15        Q    I'm sorry, was he holding you?
16        A    Yes.
17        Q    How was he holding you?
18        A    He was sitting -- let's say -- let's say
19 I am taking the place of Arthur -- Arthur.  My hips
20 were here, my torso was here, my chest was against
21 his chest and he was holding my head over here.
22        Q    Was your head on his shoulder?
23        A    Yes.
24        Q    And you said that you asked him to
25 stroke your hair?
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 1        A    Correct.
 2        Q    How did he do that?
 3        A    With his fingertips.
 4        Q    On the back of your head?
 5        A    I don't recall.
 6        Q    About how long did that last?
 7        A    Five minutes.
 8        Q    Was that comforting to you?
 9        A    Yes.
10        Q    Explain that to me.
11        A    Felt like I got some -- some things met
12 that I didn't get when I was a kid.  And at the same
13 time it was -- it was a little uncomfortable because
14 it was -- it's something I didn't get.  It was
15 something new.  Anything new is uncomfortable.  But
16 I wanted it more than -- excuse me.  I wanted it
17 more than -- I didn't want to let the fear get in
18 the way.
19        Q    So you felt comforted by it?
20        A    Yes.
21        Q    Did it feel affectionate?
22        A    Yes.  Very much.
23        Q    Did it feel like you were getting some
24 one-on-one attention?
25        A    Yes.
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 1        Q    Anything else it made you feel?
 2        A    No.
 3        Q    Safe?
 4        A    Yeah, yeah, safe.
 5        Q    Loved?
 6        A    Loved.  Vulnerable.
 7        Q    And this was something that you hadn't
 8 felt a lot of in your life?
 9        A    Correct.  At times.
10        Q    Have you ever seen Alan Downing
11 participating in healthy touch?
12        A    Yes.
13        Q    How many times do you think?
14        A    Three.
15        Q    Would that be one at each JIM weekend
16 you attended?
17        A    Yes.
18        Q    Can you describe anything you recall
19 about the manner in which Alan Downing engages in
20 the healthy touch exercises?
21        A    Well, for me, like when I did it, too.
22 You know, I did it for some of the -- some of the
23 guys going through the weekend.
24        Q    The journeyers?
25        A    Yes.  And so I recall needing a back
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 1 support.  Alan did not have back support.  Same
 2 position, chest against chest, or maybe their chest
 3 facing up and their head maybe looking up, you
 4 holding them.
 5        Q    How does the elder get matched up with
 6 the journeyer for purposes of the healthy touch
 7 exercises?
 8        A    I'm sorry.
 9        Q    For purposes of the healthy touch
10 exercises?
11        A    He chooses him, whoever he'd like.
12        Q    I'm sorry, the journeyer chooses?
13        A    The journeyer would choose.
14        Q    How did you choose Arthur Goldberg?
15        A    There was two men there that were
16 available and I chose Arthur.
17        Q    When you were a staffer, do you recall
18 how people chose you to engage in healthy touch?
19        A    Yeah, I had like just a connection with
20 a guy.  I remember.  I just felt connected to him,
21 you know, somebody like you don't really know them
22 but yet you feel like you do know them.
23        Q    So would you have any role at all in
24 choosing the person you were going to do the healthy
25 touch with or was it exclusively the journeyer who
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 1 made the decision?
 2        A    Well, if there wasn't someone available,
 3 if the other guy was taken, then, yeah, I'd have to
 4 say, well, I'm the only one available.
 5        Q    Have you stayed in touch with people
 6 you've met through these JIM weekends?  And let's
 7 focus on the first weekend.
 8        A    First weekend.  I've stayed in touch
 9 with a man, let's see, one, two, three -- at least
10 three men.
11        Q    Who are they?
12        A    Do I have to name names?
13        Q    Yeah, you do.
14        A    Okay.  Tim Wyler, Alan Downing,
15 there's -- from the first one, Chris Thibeaux.
16        Q    I know you said you have occasional
17 contact with Alan Downing?
18        A    Right.
19        Q    How many times a year, about?
20        A    Once or twice.
21        Q    Does he call you?  Do you call him?
22        A    I usually call him.  He's pretty busy.
23        Q    Anything in particular that causes you
24 to want to call Alan Downing?
25        A    Just to catch up.
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 1        Q    Who's Chris Thibeaux?
 2        A    He was on the first JIM weekend.
 3        Q    Do you know what his sexual orientation
 4 is?
 5        A    I do not.  Well, I'm not certain.
 6        Q    What makes you uncertain?
 7        A    I know he struggles.  Let me think this
 8 again.  Can you ask that question?  I think I
 9 just -- I don't think I told the truth there.  Okay.
10 Chris Thibeaux is gay.  Yeah.  And he has a partner.
11        Q    Thanks for the correction.
12        A    That's all right.
13        Q    Do you have an understanding of Alan
14 Downing's sexual orientation?
15        A    I mean, who knows about other people's
16 sexual orientation?  Yeah.  A little.
17        Q    What do you know?
18        A    I know that he had struggled before JIM
19 One and I don't believe that he's struggling any
20 more.  And I think he used to act out.
21        Q    Act out is the word for have a sexual
22 contact with another man?
23        A    Yes.
24        Q    Do you think he's straight?
25        A    Yes.
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 1        Q    Have you ever engaged in healthy touch
 2 with Alan Downing?
 3        A    I've hugged him.
 4        Q    In a manner you were just describing or
 5 as someone who's just greeting on the street?
 6        A    He held me -- I'm sorry.
 7        Q    Or just in a manner of someone on the
 8 streets saying hello?
 9        A    Oh, no, no.  He's held me, you know, at
10 times for a couple minutes and I've done work where
11 he's held me.  I've requested him to hold me in that
12 fatherly hold.
13        Q    Were those requests made in the context
14 of JIM weekends?
15        A    Yes.  And I've met with him -- I took a
16 vacation and went up and stayed with his family and
17 him, I'd say ten years ago.
18        Q    And did you engage in hugging with him
19 on that vacation?
20        A    Um-hmm.
21        Q    What kind of hugging?
22        A    You know, just a minute hug.  Minute
23 long hug.
24        Q    How many times do you think on that
25 vacation?
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 1        A    Twice.
 2        Q    Did you request that?
 3        A    Yes.
 4        Q    Was there anyone else present when you
 5 guys engaged in those minute long hugs?
 6        A    I don't think so.
 7        Q    You said that you were on a vacation
 8 with Alan and his family, correct?
 9        A    Correct.
10        Q    Was his wife on that vacation?
11        A    Yeah.
12        Q    And this was his -- which wife was this?
13 I'm sorry.
14        A    The first one.
15        Q    And he had kids at the time?
16        A    Right.  They were with us.
17        Q    Was there anyone else on that vacation
18 other than you and his family?
19        A    And in Philadelphia.  When we went to
20 Philadelphia, he did hug like that in front of his
21 family, too.  A minute long hug.  What was your
22 question?
23        Q    Let me just follow up on that.  I'm not
24 certain what trip to Philadelphia you're describing.
25 What is that?


Page 74
 1        A    Well, okay.  We went to Philadelphia for
 2 the day and, you know, he just gave me a big hug and
 3 said I'm so glad to see you and so glad you're here.
 4 We were in a market.
 5        Q    Have you ever done a clearing with Alan
 6 Downing?
 7        A    No.
 8        Q    Has he ever done a clearing with you?
 9        A    No.
10        Q    Have you ever seen Alan Downing have to
11 do a clearing with anyone at a JIM weekend?
12          MR. LAFFEY:  I'm going to object as to
13  form.
14        A    Okay.  So the question was?
15      Q    (By Mr. Dinielli) Have you ever seen Alan
16 Downing do a clearing with anyone at a JIM weekend?
17        A    No.
18        Q    Have you ever seen Alan Downing naked?
19        A    No.
20        Q    Have you ever seen him partially
21 clothed?
22        A    Yes.
23        Q    In what circumstances?
24        A    With his shirt off.  His underwear.
25        Q    Where and when?
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 1        A    We were all taking showers when we were
 2 staffing, staying in a cabin or something like that,
 3 we're walking around and getting dressed.
 4        Q    Have you ever talked with Alan about
 5 processes or other -- let me just start that over.
 6 Have you ever talked with Alan about any processes
 7 in which he's gotten naked?
 8        A    In which he's gotten naked?
 9        Q    Yes.
10        A    No, because I've never seen him naked.
11        Q    Right.  My question was whether you'd
12 ever talked with him about any processes in which
13 he's gotten naked.  Has he described anything like
14 that to you?
15        A    No.
16        Q    Do you have any reason to think that
17 Alan Downing had any sexual contact with a man
18 during either of his marriages?
19        A    Say that again.
20        Q    Do you have any reason to think that
21 Alan Downing had any sexual contact with a man
22 during either of his marriages?
23        A    No comment.  No.
24        Q    I'm sorry, you said no comment?
25        A    Yeah, no comment.  I don't understand


Page 76
 1 the question.
 2        Q    Do you think that Alan Downing, during
 3 either of his marriages, had sexual contact with a
 4 man?
 5        A    I'm not for certain.  I know earlier I
 6 said I think he had -- I think he had outside of his
 7 first marriage, but I'm not sure.  It's been like --
 8 it's been like ten years since we've talked about
 9 that kind of stuff.
10        Q    What did he say about this?
11        A    I don't remember.  I don't remember.
12        Q    Is he the source of the information that
13 makes you think that perhaps he had sex with a man
14 during his first marriage?
15          MR. LAFFEY:  Mischaracterizes the
16  testimony.  Objection.
17        A    Like I said, I don't remember the nature
18 of the conversation.
19      Q    (By Mr. Dinielli) But do you recall
20 whether it was a conversation with Alan as opposed
21 to a conversation with someone else that makes you
22 have this inkling that perhaps he did have sex
23 outside his marriage?
24        A    Right.  Yes.
25        Q    But this was probably around ten years
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 1 ago, you recall, the conversation?
 2        A    The conversation, yes.
 3        Q    Do you know Jonathan Hoffmann?
 4        A    I know the name.  I'm not the best with
 5 names.  I remember faces.
 6        Q    The name is familiar to you or no?
 7        A    Yes.
 8        Q    What do you know about him, if anything?
 9        A    I'd have to see his face.  I don't know
10 anything about him.
11        Q    We were speaking earlier about Rich
12 Wyler.
13        A    Uh-huh.
14        Q    The first time you met him was here in
15 St. Louis?
16        A    Right.
17        Q    Do you think that he is straight?
18        A    Yes.
19        Q    What makes you think that?
20        A    Just the way he comes across, his
21 conviction, his intensity.  I don't feel anything
22 from him in any other way.  You know, I don't
23 feel -- I think I need a break.
24        Q    That's fine.  We can take a break.
25          VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 12:14.  We are
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 1  off the record.  This concludes Tape 2.
 2           (Break taken.)
 3          VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 12:26 and we are
 4  back on the record.  This begins Tape 3.
 5      Q    (By Mr. Dinielli) Mr. Palmisano, we were
 6 discussing Rich Wyler before the break.  Have you
 7 ever seen him do any clearings at a JIM weekend?
 8        A    No.
 9          MR. LAFFEY:  Can we go off the record for
10  just a second?
11          MR. DINIELLI:  Yes.
12          VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 12:27.  We are
13  off the record.
14                    (Break taken.)
15          VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 12:27.  We're
16  back on the record.
17      Q    (By Mr. Dinielli) Mr. Palmisano, I
18 understand that at JIM weekends sometimes
19 participants and leaders are urged to engage in a
20 technique called a clearing.  Have you ever heard of
21 that?
22        A    Okay.  Yes.
23        Q    What's your understanding of what a
24 clearing is in that context?
25        A    If a man has a charge with another man,
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 1 meaning he has, you know, some feelings that he
 2 wants to verbalize, it's a safe setting, safe
 3 procedure where you can tell the data, judgment, and
 4 then knowing his projections.  Is that what your
 5 understanding is?
 6        Q    That's my understanding and so to
 7 clarify, when I ask that question about Mr. Wyler,
 8 using your understanding of clearing, your testimony
 9 is that you have not ever seen him do a clearing
10 with another man at a JIM weekend?
11        A    That's correct.
12        Q    Has Mr. Wyler ever told you that he
13 thinks another man is attractive?
14        A    No.
15        Q    Has he ever told you that he is envious
16 of characteristics of other men?
17        A    No.
18        Q    And, briefly, can you describe for me
19 any processes you've seen him lead at JIM weekends?
20        A    The two that he showed up -- let me
21 think here.  I don't -- I don't recall.
22        Q    You've told me about meeting him at a
23 restaurant here in St. Louis.
24        A    Right.
25        Q    And then I take it he was present at the
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 1 JIM weekend you attended as a journeyer and the two
 2 weekends you attended as a staffer?
 3        A    I don't recall if he was at the two I
 4 attended as a staffer.
 5        Q    Other than JIM weekends, have you had
 6 contact with Rich Wyler?
 7        A    I did at Journey Beyond.  And I know
 8 I've called him, but I can't remember the nature of
 9 the call, what it was about.
10        Q    For the record, what's Journey Beyond?
11        A    It's another weekend just like JIM.
12        Q    Who sponsors that weekend?
13        A    From what I know, I'm not sure.
14        Q    When did you go on a Journey Beyond
15 weekend?
16        A    Man, I don't remember the year.
17        Q    Do you think it was before or after you
18 attended your first JIM weekend?
19        A    It was after.
20        Q    What do you recall about Mr. Wyler from
21 that weekend, if anything?
22        A    He was passionate about it.  Worked
23 diligently.  Attentive.
24        Q    What else?
25        A    Well, that was the first one.  That was
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 1 the first one.  We were organizing the first one.
 2 It was ours to experience.
 3        Q    Have you ever seen Mr. Wyler naked?
 4        A    No.
 5        Q    Have you ever engaged in healthy touch
 6 with Mr. Wyler?
 7        A    Yeah.
 8        Q    What was the context?
 9        A    Hugged him.
10        Q    Again, I'm using healthy touch in the
11 particular way we were describing before the break,
12 which is something more than a casual hello or
13 good-bye hug.
14        A    No, no healthy touch other than that.
15 Not in your description of healthy touch, no.
16        Q    Have you ever discussed this litigation
17 with Mr. Wyler?
18        A    Yes.
19        Q    When was that?
20        A    Couple days ago.
21        Q    Did he call you?
22        A    I called him.
23        Q    What did you say?
24        A    I said I have three attorneys calling
25 me.  One in New Jersey, one in California.  I said,
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 1 Who are these people?  Is it all legit?  Who am I
 2 talking to?
 3        Q    What did he say?
 4        A    He said it's good, it's okay.
 5        Q    I want you to try your very best to
 6 recall specifically what he said in that
 7 conversation.
 8        A    He asked me to be truthful, that the
 9 procedures for JIM One are -- I guess you'd say have
10 been subpoenaed and that you had them.  You know,
11 that he hopes for the best.
12        Q    Did he say anything else about the
13 lawsuit?
14        A    No.
15        Q    Did he describe to you his deposition?
16        A    No.
17        Q    Did he say anything about Alan Downing's
18 deposition?
19        A    He did not.
20        Q    Did he say anything about anyone else's
21 deposition in the case so far?
22        A    No, he did not.
23        Q    You've staffed two JIM weekends,
24 correct?
25        A    Correct.
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 1        Q    How is it that you came to be a staffer
 2 on a JIM weekend?
 3        A    I applied to staff.
 4        Q    What was that process?
 5        A    Probably back then it was probably a
 6 mail-in process.  Fill out our application and send
 7 it in to People Who Can Change, I believe.
 8        Q    Before you staffed for the first time,
 9 was there any training?
10        A    No.
11        Q    Did you receive the script in advance of
12 the weekend?
13        A    Yes.
14        Q    Were you told to study that?
15        A    Yes.  And rules, protocols, and then
16 signed saying that I would follow them.
17        Q    Staffers are not permitted to have any
18 kind of sexual contact with journeyers, correct?
19        A    That's correct.
20        Q    Are you aware of any instances in which
21 anyone has broken that rule?
22        A    No.
23        Q    Many of the exercises at JIM weekends
24 revolve around the story of Jack and the Beanstalk,
25 correct?
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 1        A    Um-hmm.
 2        Q    Describe for me your understanding of
 3 that.
 4        A    I don't remember.
 5        Q    Do you know why the JIM weekends involve
 6 exercises involving the story of Jack and the
 7 Beanstalk?
 8        A    You know, if I heard it again, I'd know
 9 why.  But I don't know.  I don't remember.
10        Q    Okay.  That's fine.  When's the last
11 time you spoke with Arthur Goldberg?
12        A    About seven years ago.
13        Q    You seem kind of confident in that, what
14 was the circumstance?
15        A    Journey Beyond weekend he staffed with
16 us.
17        Q    So I take it you have not had any
18 conversations about this litigation with
19 Mr. Goldberg?
20        A    No.
21        Q    What do you know about Mr. Goldberg's
22 credentials?
23        A    I know that he is an attorney.
24 That's -- and that he was writing a book.
25 Credentials?  That's -- yeah.
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 1        Q    Do you know anything about his
 2 conviction on federal fraud charges?
 3        A    No.
 4        Q    Do you know that he spent time in jail?
 5        A    No.
 6        Q    Do you know that the American
 7 Psychotherapy Association revoked his certification
 8 in 2011?
 9        A    Can you ask that question again?
10        Q    Do you know that the American
11 Psychotherapy Association revoked his certification
12 in 2011?
13        A    No.
14        Q    Have you ever heard him refer to himself
15 as Dr. Goldberg?
16        A    No.
17        Q    Have you heard anyone else refer to him
18 as Dr. Goldberg?
19        A    No.  Always called him Arthur.
20          MR. DINIELLI:  I think we're nearly done.
21  Why don't we take a quick break and we'll come
22  back.
23          VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 12:38.  We are
24  off the record.
25           (Break taken.)
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 1          VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 12:40.  We are
 2  back on the record.
 3          MR. DINIELLI:  I have no further questions.
 4          MR. LAFFEY:  And I have no further
 5  questions.
 6          VIDEOGRAPHER:  The time is 12:40.  We are
 7  off the record.  This concludes today's deposition
 8  of Tony Palmisano.
 9


10     (Ending time of the deposition: 12:40 p.m.)
11
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 1 STATE OF MISSOURI)


                 )SS
 2 CITY OF ST. LOUIS)
 3           I, Rebecca Brewer, Registered Professional
 4      Reporter, Certified Real-time Reporter, and
 5      Notary Public in and for the State of Missouri
 6      do hereby certify that the witness whose
 7      testimony appears in the foregoing deposition
 8      was duly sworn by me; that the testimony of the
 9      said witness was taken by me to the best of my
10      ability and thereafter reduced to typewriting
11      under my direction; that I am neither counsel
12      for, related to, nor employed by any of the
13      parties to the action in which this deposition
14      was taken, and further that I am not relative
15      or employee of any attorney or counsel employed
16      by the parties thereto, nor financially or
17      otherwise interested in the outcome of the
18      action.
19           ______________________ RPR, MO-CCR,
20  Notary Public within and for the State of Missouri
21


22         My Commission expires April 7, 2017
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